
 
 
 

SCRUTINY : TRANSFORMATION, 
COMMERCIALISATION AND CORPORATE 

CENTRE 
 

4.30 pm TUESDAY, 1ST MARCH, 2022 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this Meeting and a separate 
invitation will be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to  

Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
 

All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to 
being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used 

as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s 
Consultation and Engagement Process  

 

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

5 - 28 

4. Best Start to Life Thematic Report – Delivery of 
Key Objectives in the Corporate Plan: Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

29 - 40 

5. Working Life Thematic Report – Review of 
Delivery of  Key Objectives in the Corporate Well-
being Plan  

 

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

41 - 82 

6. Forward Work Programme 2021/22   

 To consider the attached report 
 

83 - 102 

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 

 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair) 

                     J Amos (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   L Davies, C T Jones, H R Jones, 

D Sammon and W R Smith 
 
Co-optees:    S Fureed, C Payne and G Williams 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 

 
 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



,.                                                                                                                     
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s 
Consultation and Engagement Process  
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 In direct response to public feedback following recent Council consultation activities, 

Scrutiny is keen to understand the Council’s current standard consultation approach 
and to explore the reasons why some recent consultations have received a 
significant amount of public challenge. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the committee receives this report, and its content is noted and debated. 
 

 
3.0       INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In 2014, MTCBC and RCT received European Funding to source a shared dedicated       

consultation officer post.  During this time authorities were under more and more 
pressure to include residents’ views as part of their decision-making process through 
public consultation and engagements. When this funding came to an end, both 
authorities recognised the importance of such a provision and as a result, RCT 
created a consultation team of 2 full-time posts.  MTCBC incorporated the function 
into their communications team.   

 
3.2 In recent years, there has been a greater prominence across the Council on 

consultation and engagement as a key principle of service delivery. Activity has 
shifted away from a focus on formal consultation to a more complete public 
engagement approach. Without a dedicated consultation team this has proved 

Date Written 16th January 2022 

Report Author Ceri Dinham 

Service Area Communication, Consultation and 
Engagement 

Committee Date 1st March 2022 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



challenging, especially with capacity issues within the team and no dedicated budget 
for consultation.  

 
3.3  The average number of consultations produced each year by the team is 20 however 

there has been a significant increase over the past few years, with an upward trend 
on the number produced. In 2019 the team undertook 11 consultations however, this 
was significantly more in 2021, with the team delivering 33 consultations.  

 
3.4 The Council has had a Communications and Engagement Strategy since 2015.  This 

is regularly reviewed. The draft Consultation and Engagement Framework will 
accompany the Communications and Engagement Strategy and will be presented to 
Council in March 2022 for approval.  A copy of the draft Communications and 
Engagement Framework is attached as Appendix 1.  

 
3.5 Our strategy provides the Council with an overall framework for meeting our 

Consultation and Engagement requirements, providing guidance and direction on:  
 

 When we should consult and engage stakeholders  

 Level of consultation and engagement required  

 Principles to consider when undertaking consultation and engagement  

 Use of consultation and engagement results  
 

3.6 The framework builds on the good standard of consultation and engagement activity 
currently taking place across the authority.  

 
3.7 In 2018, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s Communications and Consultation 

Team was awarded with a Certificate of Good Practice for its consultation standards 
and quality assurance by the Consultation Institute for the 21st Century Schools 
Programme Ysgol Y Graig Public Consultation.  

 
 
4.0 RESPONSIBILITIES AND IMPLEMENTATION  
 

All members of staff have a responsibility for the successful implementation of the 
Consultation and Engagement Strategy. For the Strategy to be effective, it has to be 
part of the Council’s culture and there needs to be a genuine commitment to engage 
with the local community. 
 
Specific responsibilities for implementation lie with:  

 
4.1 Elected Members  
 

Members play an essential role in the Council's consultative processes. In particular, 
they form a link between the community and Council, having a positive influence on 
the level of participation by the local community. The representative nature of elected 
members’ position remains crucial and the more information they have available on 
the views of local people the better they will be able to represent their views. 
Members should make every effort to inform consultation officers of any potentially 
contentious issues before consultation takes place.  
 

Page 6



The implementation of the Strategy should enhance the availability of consultation 
information for elected members. Elected members have an important role in 
ensuring that policy development takes account of consultation findings.  

 
If conducting an engagement activity that affects particular wards or a particular 
portfolio area, ward members should be fully briefed on proposals that affect the 
areas they represent. Efforts should be made to ensure that relevant cabinet 
members, scrutiny chairs and vice chairs, committee chairs and ward members are 
aware of and have the opportunity to input into engagement activities. Cabinet 
members, committee chairs or scrutiny chairs and vice chairs will have an interest in 
any activities affecting their remit and should be kept informed of the consultation 
progress.  
 

4.2 Corporate Management Team 
 

Corporate Management Team have a key role in providing a high level of 
commitment to the corporate consultation and engagement strategy and driving 
forward its effective implementation. They have specific responsibility for ensuring 
that effective consultation takes place within their directorate, that consultation 
findings are used to influence strategic direction, and that policy development takes 
account of consultation.  

 
 
4.3 Heads of Services  
 

Responsibility for undertaking specific service-based consultation will lie with the 
appropriate officers under the guidance of their service head and Chief Officer. 
Service heads will have responsibility to ensure:  
 

o All staff are aware of and act on the Strategy.  

o Consultation activity is planned using the principles outlined in the 
Council’s Consultation and Engagement Strategy. 

 
 
5.0 MTCBC’s CONSULTATION PROCESS  
 
5.1  A consultation / engagement exercise will initially be requested by the service area. 

At this point officers will have an idea of when and how they want to consult, as well 
as who they want to consult with.   
 

5.2  An online consultation request form is available on the intranet, which asks questions 
such as:  
 

 Why are we doing this?  

 What do we need to know?  

 What questions do we need to ask?  

 Could this consultation be deemed contentious?  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 7



5.3  The consultation request form is then submitted to the consultation team to take 
forward and the following process is followed:   

 
 

PLANNING 
Consultation request form submitted  
Review of request 
Project plan set up 
Challenge group meeting   
To determine:  
• If consultation could be deemed contentious  
• Any associated risks to reputation   
• Who we need to consult with 
• Duration of consultation  
• Start date  
• End date  
• Appropriate comms channels 
• Agree questions  
 
Relevant Councillors to be advised 
 
SURVEY DESIGN 
Questions to be finalised 
Smart Survey set up 
Survey to be tested by Consultation Team  
Amendments to be made  
Survey to be sent to Lead Officer for testing  
Amendments to be made  
Translation  
Welsh version input to Smart Survey  
Test responses to be deleted  
Set consultation close date  
 
GO LIVE 
Information uploaded to Council website:  
Have Your Say section  
News item  
Eye-catcher  
Email to all Councillors 
Email to all staff  
Social media posts 
Live Social Media sessions  
Face-to-face sessions  
Focus groups / listening sessions  
Consultation packs / paper copies at strategic 
locations  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
MID-CONSULTATION REVIEW 
Meeting to discuss:  
How the process is going.   
Number of responses.  
Do we need to do more to increase participation?  
Identify groups we may/may not be reaching. 
 
 
POST-SURVEY 
Data input – paper copies into Smart Survey 
Reports:  
• Word doc. overview  
• Excel doc. raw data  
Content analysis 
Distribution of data reports: CO to send reports and 
overview to LO  
Meeting to be organised to go through data and 
decide next steps  
 
FEEDBACK 
Report to be prepared for Council with 
recommendations 
Results shared with Service Area  
Results shared with SLT / CMT  
Publication of results:  
• Press Release 
• Feedback to interested parties  
• Feedback to consultees (where personal data 
has been captured)  
• Social Media posts  
• Contact Newspaper  
 
EVALUATION 
Review of process:  
• Lessons learned  
• Things we did well  
• Things we could do better next time 

 

 
5.4  A copy of the consultation process project request form is available as Appendix 2. 

 
6.0 RESPONSE RATES 
 
6.1 Nationally, consultation response rates are typically no higher than 1-2% and a 

response rate of 4-5% would generally be regarded as high. There are exceptions 
where a consultation is very local (confined to a few streets) and the impact direct 
and immediate (e.g. A controlled parking zone). In one of our last consultations, a 
response rate of 10% was achieved for both residents and parents and just over 
20% for staff and parishioners – this would appear to be a good result.  

   
It is understandable that those overseeing a consultation want to see the highest 
possible response rate from their target audience.  

Page 9



While they can be influenced by the amount and targeting of publicity and the ease 
of responding, response rates can also reflect the level of inherent interest in the 
subject matter of the consultation among certain sections of the target population.  

 
Experience of consultations tells us that people who are opposed to a proposal 
appear often to be more motivated to register their opposition than supporters are to 
show their support. On some occasions, lower response rates may simply reflect a 
general acceptance of what is proposed, rather than a failure to provide an adequate 
opportunity to respond or to publicise a consultation properly.  

  
 
7.0  DATA ANALYSIS 
 
7.1  Once a consultation closes the lead consultation officer will run data reports and do a 

content analysis.  
 
There are two types of report: a Word document overview of the results and an Excel 
document with the raw data from each response.  
 
Once the reports have been run, the officer will analyse the content, looking for key 
words and common themes in the responses. Once this content analysis is done, the 
information is sent to the Lead Officer from the requesting service area, as well as 
any other officers who may have been involved in the consultation process, and a 
follow-up meeting is organised to determine next steps.    
 

 
8.0 THE CHALLENGES / LESSONS LEARNED OF CONSULTING DURING A 

PANDEMIC 
 
8.1  Delivering public consultation exercises during the pandemic has presented its 

challenges.  
 
8.2  The team has been unable to conduct face to face consultations, which would 

usually be a standard practice for most consultations.  
 

8.3  Paper copies of consultations would usually be available in all Council 
buildings,however they have been closed to the general public for almost two years, 
meaning that this option is no longer available. 
 

8.4  With limits on face-to-face interactions the team has been unable to undertake 
listening and engaging sessions, which help shape the questions asked. 
 

8.5  The team has been incredibly busy responding to the pandemic and capacity and 
resources have therefore been an issue. 
 

8.6  Capacity due to self-isolations and illness during the pandemic has also been a 
challenge.    

 
8.7  A more stringent business continuity plan needs to be in place.  
 
8.8  Look at alternative uses of digital media / digital platforms.  

Page 10



8.9  Publicise the availability of paper copies more widely, with the support of elected 
members and community groups. 

 
8.10 Increase the volume of direct mail recipients.  
 
8.11  More discussions required with lead officer and ward members as to whether the 

subject of the consultation is likely to be contentious in any way, and to discuss the 
demographic of the local population to make sure that difficult to reach residents, 
i.e.digitally disadvantaged, are properly consulted. 

 
9.0 MTCBC’s CONSULTATION PROCESS COMPARED TO OTHER LOCAL 

AUTHORITIES  
 
9.1 There is a range of legislation and statutory guidance requiring local authorities to 

consult on issues connected to the services they provide. 
 
9.2 The Council has endorsed the National Principles for Public Engagement in Wales, 

which is followed by all Councils in Wales. See Appendix 3.  
  

9.3 These principles and standards have been developed and endorsed by the Welsh 
Government to make sure that participation happens in consistent and effective 
ways.   
 

9.4 Like other neighbouring local authorities in Wales, the Council must refer to the 
above principles when consulting.   
 

9.5 Partners under the Cwm Taf Collaboration Board had developed a Joint Public 
Engagement Strategy.  The Strategy was underpinned by the National Principles of 
Public Engagement in Wales and is currently under review. 
 

9.6 MTCBC and RCT continue to work closely, sharing information in relation to the 
process, advice, guidance and legislation around consultation and engagement. 

 
9.7  MTCBC’s consultation project plan is closely aligned to RCT’s.  
 
 
10.0 FEEDBACK ON THE CONSULTATION OUTCOMES 
 
10.1  Once the content analysis has been completed the results are shared with CMT and 

Cabinet. 
 
10.2  Where appropriate, a report is prepared for Full Council, with recommendations for 

Council approval and to agree next steps.  
 
10.3  Consultation results and next steps are then shared internally with all Elected 

Members and Officers.  
 
10.4  Once shared internally, the results are publicised externally through all our channels, 

including the Council’s website, social media and Contact Newspaper. Feedback will 
also be shared directly to any consultees, if we have captured personal data and 
they have requested to receive the outcome of the consultation.   
 

Page 11

https://participation.cymru/en/principles/


10.5  If there is significant feedback from consultees that the consultation was not deemed 

as meaningful, a review of the process will be undertaken, and consideration will be 

given to running the consultation again.  

 
11.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
11.1  Following some challenges on some recent consultation and engagement exercises, 

a review of the Council’s consultation strategy is underway with a view to embedding 
more robust processes to ensure that all the Council’s consultation and engagement 
activities are deemed meaningful. 

 
 
12.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
12.1  The Council’s revised Communications and Engagement strategy is due to be 

presented to Full Council in March 2022. 

Incorporated in the strategy will be a more robust evaluation process to ensure that 
people’s experiences of the Council’s consultation process can be captured, shared 
and applied in future engagements. 

12.2 To identify further resources to increase capacity for a dedicated consultation officer. 

 
13.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

13.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 
objective:  

 
13.2 Best Start to life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are 

equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. 

 
13.3 Working Life 

(Community Regen/ Housing/PASS  
 

People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an 
attractive destination. 

 
13.4 Environmental Wellbeing 

(Neighbourhood Services/Planning) 

Communities protect, enhance, and promote our environment and countryside. 

13.5 Living Well 

(Children’s & Adults Services) People are empowered to live independently within 
their communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 
Environmental Wellbeing. 

 

 

Page 12



 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 
 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR 

GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 MTCBC’s 
Consultation and 
Engagement 
Framework  

 Consultation and 
Engagement 
Request Form 

 Communications, Consultation and 
Engagement Office. 

 
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Fffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffff8 
  

Consultation and 
Engagement 
Framework 
2022 - 26 

Page 15



 
Contents 
 
(To be included) 
 
 
 
Introduction  
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council have a firm commitment to ensure that we 
deliver high quality services for our residents ensuring that our services remain 
sustainable for the future. one of the ways in which we do this, is by involving 
communities across our County Borough through engagement and consultations. 2-
way communications are an important part in our decision-making process, ensuring 
we get a clear picture of how decisions can impact residents and minimising any 
negative impact on the community best we can.  
 
We believe that nurturing strong relationships between the council and the community 
(residents, businesses, voluntary and community groups) is incredibly important in the 
success of the Borough as a whole. This again, is done through 2-way communication 
which is incredibly important to get to the heart of the issues and reach our vibrant 
communities, so that everyone is involved.  
 
The framework in this document sets out our approach on the engagement and 
consultation process, including an overview of what it means, so that everyone has a 
common understanding to further improve the engagement, consultation, and 
participation process.  
 
 

Who is the framework for? 
 
The framework is for everyone who wants to have a say in the decisions we make, but 
also for the community and Council to become more informed and empowered in the 
process. The framework is designed to support staff to carry out successful, 
meaningful, and robust consultation, participation, and engagement: 
 
It has been designed to support: 
 
Staff by ensuring that they… 
 
■ know how to carry out robust, effective and meaningful consultation and 
engagement 
 
■ adopt a consistent approach to the consultation and engagement process 
 

Page 16



■ recognise diversity within our communities and incorporate this into 
the planning of engagement activities. 
 
Councillors by... 
 
■ raising awareness of the national principles that govern how we consult 
and engage with our residents and stakeholders and  
 
■ ensuring they understand the need to effectively use the outcomes of community 
engagement to improve the nature of decision making and help strengthen the 
relationship that the council has with the people it serves. 
 
Residents, communities and other 
stakeholders by... 
 
■ demonstrating our approach to engagement  
 
■ letting them know the standards we are working to and  
 
■ what to expect from us which will enable a greater sense of ownership, giving 
people more input into the decisions that affect their lives. 
 
We must adopt a consistent approach to the participation and engagement process. 
 
We must recognise diversity within our communities, difficulties they may face and 
incorporate this into the planning of engagement activities. 
 
Being able to raise awareness of the national principles that govern how we consult 
and engage with our residents and stakeholders and ensuring they understand the 
need to effectively use the outcomes of community engagement to improve the nature 
of decision making and help strengthen the relationship that the council has with the 
people it serves.  
 

Residents, communities and other stakeholders are an essential part of this process 
and we have created this framework with them in mind:  
 

1. Demonstrating our approach to engagement. 
2. Letting them know the standards we are working to and what to expect from us 

which will enable a greater sense of ownership, giving people more input into the 
decisions that affect their lives. 

 
The framework:  
 

1. Highlights the importance of effective consultation and engagement and the clear 
strategic link to the decision-making process. 

Page 17



 
2. Demonstrates the key role that engaged, empowered communities have in 

supporting the future-proofing public services. 
 

3. Provides a clear definition of engagement and outlines the spectrum of 
engagement.  

 
4. Outlines the principles and standards that underpin meaningful engagement and 

consultation to enable a consistent, transparent, and high-quality approach to the 
planning and undertaking of community engagement. 

 
5. Signposts to further advice and guidance on how to carry out consultation and 

engagement in line with the principles and standards outlined. 
 

 
Communications and Engagement Strategy 2022-2026 
 

In XXXX 2022 (to be presented to Council March 2022) Council endorsed a 
Communications and Engagement Strategy 2022-2026, which outlines the approach 
we will take to ensure communications and engagement activity is fit for purpose and 
helps to achieve our vision. 
documents: 
This Consultation and Engagement Framework will complement and help facilitate 
delivering one of the key objectives highlighted in the Communications and 
Engagement Strategy to: 
 
“Inform and engage with residents, businesses, visitors, partners and 
other stakeholders about the council’s aims and key priorities, the 
services it provides and how they can get involved in shaping decisions.” 
 
It also defines how we as an organisation will listen and respond to what our audience 
is telling us in return. 
 
The Communications and Engagement Strategy states that effective consultation and 
engagement promotes two- way communications, which ensures residents are able to 
influence the way we shape and deliver our services. 
 
What do we mean by Engagement? 
What do we mean by Engagement? 
The words ‘community’, ‘public’ or ‘citizen’ engagement are used interchangeably 
by many, often to mean the same thing.  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Caerphilly Council has previously adopted the following definition of engagement: 
 
“Engagement means anything that we do that informs citizens about what we 
do or involves citizens in the Council’s decision- making process.” 

Page 18



 
Effective communication and engagement is fundamental to the council’s 
transformation journey, and it is through the ongoing process of dialogue between 
the Council and our communities.  
 
Through this document we aim to set out a clear structure for engagement that 
encourages a partnership of collaboration between communities and the council, 
where the council can enable communities to do a little more for themselves. 
 
In enabling this process, we consider the following headline principles to be of 
particular significance: 
 
■ We will listen and understand 
 
■ Our residents will help inform and shape the decisions we make - and in turn we will 
keep people informed 
 
■ We will be inclusive and act with purpose 
 
■ We will make the most of what already exists in our communities. Through this 
agreed approach we will: 
 
■ Empower local residents to have greater influence over the issues that affect them 
■ Increase and strengthen the role of communities in how we live, work and visit our 
County Borough. 
 
■ Help us to understand the needs of our communities which in turn, helps to 
ensure that the services we deliver meet those needs and that available resources 
are used effectively and in line with agreed priorities  
 
■ Ensure people are involved in the democratic process and enable communities to 
have greater input on issues that affect them. 
 

■ Support communities to take action by helping them identify needs and support 
them in developing community-led solutions 
 
■ Meet our statutory duties 
 
Designing engagement: 
 
Do I need to engage, consult or do something else? 
 
To ensure that engagement is carried out in a systematic and consistent way, it is 
important to be clear on what level of engagement is appropriate in a particular 
circumstance and to plan and implement engagement processes carefully based on 

Page 19



that circumstance. 
 
At times, engagement may simply be about informing, while at other times engagement 
will involve a combination of information provision and gathering, consultation, 
feedback and evaluation that will feed into the decision- making process at an 
appropriate stage. Recognising that different levels of engagement are appropriate in 
different circumstances, careful consideration should be given to the approach adopted 
in relation to: 
■ the purpose and intended outcome of the engagement 
■ the issues being addressed 
■ the stage in the project planning cycle at which engagement takes place 
■ the stakeholders involved/those we are engaging with - recognising that 
different groups and individuals have different needs and preferences 
 
The following link provides guidance in determining whether you need to consult, 
engage or do something else: 
 
www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Do%20I%20need%20to%20consult.pdf 
 
 
Communications and Engagement Strategy 2022 - 2026  
 
The Consultation and Engagement Framework 2022 - 2026 has direct links to a few 
key frameworks and strategic documents. This Consultation and Engagement 
Framework will complement and help facilitate delivering one of the key objectives 
highlighted in the Communications and Engagement Strategy, 2022 - 26 in how we will 
implement effective consultation and engagement through two-way communication 
and ‘ensure communities can influence our services and the way in which we 
shape and deliver them across the County Borough.’ 
 
 
The Spectrum of Engagement 
 

The International Association of Public Participation Spectrum outlines five levels of 
engagement across a continuum that describes an increasing degree of engagement, 
participation, and influence in the engagement process. The spectrum can be used to 
help determine the level of influence required and sets the commitment to ensure 
transparency. It can also provide a starting point in determining the most appropriate 
methods of engagement. The diagram below outlines five levels of engagement and 
identifies increasing levels of public impact and levels of community influence over 
decisions at each level, our goals and promises are set out 
 
Levels of Locality Participation 

 

Informing Consulting Involving Collaborating Empowering 

Page 20

http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Do%20I%20need%20to%20consult.pdf


 
 
 

    

Providing 
information to 

localities to 
enable them to 

understand 
problems, 

alternatives, 
opportunities, and 

solutions 
 

Obtaining local 
feedback to 

inform decision-
making 

 
Obtaining 

feedback on 
formal proposals 

Working directly 
with local people 

to ensure that 
issues, 

concerns, and 
aspirations are 
understood and 

considered 

Working in 
partnership with 
localities on all 

aspects of 
decision-making 

including 
development of 

options and 
identifying 

preferred solutions 

Placing final 
decisions in the 

hands of the 
locality 

 
 
 

    

So that we … So that we … So that we … So that we … So that we … 

 
Keep everyone 

informed  
 

We will keep you 
informed, hasten 
to acknowledge 
concerns, and 

provide feedback 
on how public 

input influenced 
the decision 

We will work with 
you to ensure 

that your 
concerns and 

aspirations are 
directly reflected 

in the 
alternatives 

developed and 
provide feedback 

on how public 
input influenced 

the decision 

We will look to you 
for direct advice 
and innovation in 

formulating 
solutions and 

incorporate your 
advice and 

recommendations 
into the decisions 
to the maximum 
extent possible. 

We will implement 
what you decide 

 

 
Who do we engage and consult with?  
 
We will always reach out and engage with everyone within our communities, as 
appropriate depending on the area of the consultation and impact for the Borough as a 
whole. The people we engage with are: 
 

 Residents - people from every part of the County Borough and from every 
community and of all ages, making a particular effort to encourage those 
currently not engaged/seldom heard including:  

 Community groups and clubs including those on our various panels, community, 
voluntary and special interest groups  

 Vulnerable groups and those with protected characteristics as defined within the 
Equality Act (2010) and the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales)  

 Children and young people including those on the Youth and Junior Forums  

 Employees of the Council  

Page 21



 Relevant Trade Unions  

 Business owners  

 Those who visit, work, or participate in activities within the County Borough  

 Our democratically elected representatives  

 Town and Community Councils  

 Local Assembly Members and Members of Parliament  

 Partner organisations  

 Business forums  

 Welsh Commissioners (Children’s, Welsh Language, Older Persons and Future 
Generations)  

 Specific subject forums  

 Any other body or group with an interest in the work of the authority and the 
future well-being of the area 

 

Principles of Engagement  
 
The Council operates within the Welsh Government Citizen-Centred Governance 
Principles, putting the citizen at the heart and focusing on their needs and experiences. 
In engaging with residents and stakeholders, it is important to have principles that 
guide the engagement process so that it is undertaken in a meaningful and transparent 
manner. 
 
Public Engagement in Wales 
The Council has adopted the National Principles for Public Engagement in Wales as a 
guiding document for all of our engagement activities These principles are supported 
by ‘The Evaluation Toolkit. 
 
- Evaluating engagement practice against the National Principles for Public 
Engagement in Wales which outlines a four-stage participatory process to evaluate 
engagement activities in relation to the National Principles. 
 
The Consultation Institute Charter 
 
The Consultation Institute provides a charter, outlining seven key aspects of good 
consultation. These seven components should steer decision-making processes 
before, during and after a consultation process. 
 
They can also act as a guide for other forms of engagement. 
 
Much on consultations in the United Kingdom have been undertaken by the 
Consultation Institute which was set up in 2001. They strongly believe ‘a dynamic 
process of dialogue between individuals or groups, based upon a genuine exchange of 
views, with the clear objective of influencing decisions, policies or programme of action’ 
 
They also have very strict principles of engagement that they have laid out, those are:  

Page 22



 
1. Integrity – The consultor must be willing to listen to the views of consultees and 

be prepared to be influenced when making subsequent decisions. [if decisions 
have already been taken, such a consultation is a ‘fraud’ and ‘purposeless 
exercise’ 

2. Visibility – All those who have a justifiable right to participate should be 
reasonably made aware of the exercise. 

3. Accessibility - Methods of informing and consulting must be ‘appropriate for the 
intended audience’.  

4. Transparency – Stakeholder invitation lists, consultee responses (with consent) 
and consultation results should be published.  

5. Disclosure – Consultors are under a duty to disclose information, including 
financial details, which could materially influence the nature and extent of 
consultees’ reports. 

6. Fair interpretation – Responses to the consultations must be collated and 
assessed objectively. If weighting methods were used to assist this assessment, 
these must be disclosed  

7. Publication – There is a ‘proper expectation’ that the output and outcome of the 
consultation will be published within a reasonable time.  

 
The Legal Context Doctrine of legitimate expectation (common law)  
 

Essentially, where people have come to legitimately expect a process of consultation, 
for example, with local authority budget cuts, there are grounds for a judicial review 
should a public consultation not take place. Similarly, a consultation must be conducted 
properly should the choice be taken to embark on one (whether a legal requirement 
exists for it or not). This is part of ensuring that the consultation process remains a fair 
one. This is rapidly becoming the most important aspect of the law of consultation.  
 
The legitimate expectation applies:  
 
■ when there has been a clear promise of consultation  
■ where official guidance or policies imply a promise to act in a particular way  
■ where there is a withdrawal of a benefit with significant impacts to be considered  
■ where the nature of the relationship would create unfairness if there were to be 
inadequate consultation.  
 
The Consultation Institute identifies two areas to focus on when deciding if you need to 
consult - statutory provisions and the doctrine of legitimate expectation (common law). 
Statutory provisions Statutory provisions are legal requirements which state that a 
consultation must occur. They exist in several key areas - health, environment, and 
equalities. Equality: The Equality Act 2010 states that public bodies must have “due 
regard” to a variety of Equalities objectives (Equality Act 2010, Section 149) and 
consequently Equality Impact Assessments must be carried out to demonstrate that 
decisionmakers are fully aware of the impact that changes may have on stakeholders. 
The concept of “due regard” was reinforced in 2012 during the review of the Public 

Page 23



Sector Equality Duty which... “requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations 
between different 
 
 
Gunning Principles  
 

If it has been determined that consultation (as opposed to some other kind of 
engagement) is required, it is important that the following principles are adhered to 
ensure legal compliance.  
 
Proposals are still at a formative stage. A final decision has not yet been made, or 

predetermined, by the decision makers.  
 
There is sufficient information to give ‘intelligent consideration’. The information 
provided must relate to the consultation and must be available, accessible, and easily 
interpretable for consultees to provide an informed response.  
 
There is adequate time for consideration and response. 
 
There must be sufficient opportunity for consultees to participate in the consultation. 
There is no set timeframe for consultation, despite the widely accepted twelve-week 
consultation period, as the length of time given for consultee to respond can vary 
depending on the subject and extent of impact of the consultation.  
 
‘Conscientious consideration’ must be given to the consultation responses 
before a decision is made. 
 

Decision-makers should be able to provide evidence that they took consultation 
responses into account. 
 
www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf  
 
The Involvement and Collaboration Principles: Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015   
 

terms of the wider context, this Framework also supports the Council in 
meeting its duty under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The 
Act is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales and requires public bodies in Wales to think about the long-term impact of 
their decisions, to work better with people, communities and each other and to prevent 
persistent problems such as poverty, health inequalities and climate change. 
 
The Act puts in place a sustainable development duty which outlines how 

Page 24

http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf


organisations should go about meeting their responsibilities under the Act. There are 
five ways of working that public bodies need to think about to show that they have 
applied the sustainable development principles. 
 
 
 
Equality 

 
 
The Equality Act 2010 and Wales specific duties 
 

The Equality Act is supplemented by a specific set of Welsh duties, one of which is to 
involve people who it considers to be representative of those with different protected 
characteristics who have an interest in the way in which the authority carries out its 
functions. 
 
Engagement will help improve outcomes, for example by: 
 

 identifying particular needs, patterns of 

 disadvantage and poor relations between groups 

 understanding the reasons for 

 disadvantage, low participation 

 rates and poor relations 

  designing initiatives to meet needs 

 and overcome barriers 

  determining priorities 

 analysing the impact of initiatives 

 on people with protected 

 characteristics 

  monitoring and evaluating 

 initiatives, policies and programmes 
 
 
futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/150623-guide-to-the-fg-act-
en.pdf www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/engagement-and-
equalityduty-guide-listed-public-authorities-wales 
 
 
National Standards for Children & Young People’s Participation 
 

 This Means We Will 

Information You have the right to information 
that is easy to understand and 
allows you to make an informed 
decision 

Provide information that is good 
quality, clear and accessible 

Page 25

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/engagement-and-equalityduty-guide-listed-public-authorities-wales
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/engagement-and-equalityduty-guide-listed-public-authorities-wales


It’s your choice  You have the right to choose to be 
involved and work on things that 
are important to you 

Give you enough support and time 
to choose if you want to get 
involved. 

No discrimination Children and young people are all 
different and have the right to be 
treated fairly 

Provide a range of opportunities 
and support to meet the needs of 
children and young people. 

Respect You have the right to have a say. 
Your opinions are important and 
will be respected 

Listen to your views, experiences 
and ideas and take you seriously. 
n Work with you on things you say 
are important. n Value what you 
have to offer. 

You get something out of it  You have the right to learn and be 
the best you can be. n You will 
have opportunities to work with 
others and make a difference. n 
We want you to be involved in 
positive experiences. n 

Work with you in safe, fun and 
enjoyable ways. n Make the most 
of what you know and do things 
that build your confidence and 
skills 

Feedback You have the right to know what 
differences you have made and 
how your ideas have been listened 
to 

n Always ensure you have 
feedback in an agreed time. n Tell 
you how your ideas have been 
used and why. n Tell you what 
happens next 

Working for you Those who make decisions that 
affect children and young people 
should put children’s rights at the 
centre of everything they do. 

Work with you and learn how we 
can do things better. n Ensure 
your views make a difference to 
the way we make plans and 
decisions. 
 

 
 
 
Appendix 1: National Principles for Public Engagement in Wales 

Page 26



APPENDIX 2 

 

Consultation Project Request Form  

**Please note all consultation work requires a minimum 4 week turnaround before going live** 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Name  

Department  

Phone number  

Expenditure Code (required for any print production)  

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Consultation details:  

Why are we doing this?    

What do we need to know?     

Is this part of an existing business case?   Yes/No 

Who is the Lead Officer for this consultation?   

Upload consultation questions (to be provided as word document)  

Are any these questions optional, or are all questions mandatory?   

If any are optional, please state which.   

Supporting documents (to be provided as word documents)  

Consultation start date  

Consultation end date   

Could this consultation exercise be seen as contentious?   Yes/No 

If yes, please state why…    

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Paper copies required?   Yes/No 

If the answer is yes, how many copies are required?  

Consultation roadshow events required?   Yes/No 

Press Release required?   Yes/No 

If the answer is yes please follow this link to the Press Release Information Template: 

http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/corporate/communications/press-releases/ 

Social Media posts required?  Yes/No 

 

Page 27

http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/corporate/communications/press-releases/


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Date Written 10th February 2022 

Report Author Sue Walker 

Service Area Education 

Committee Date 1st March 2022 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Best Start to Life Thematic Report – Delivery of 
Key Objectives in the Corporate Plan: Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Committee has requested a report outlining progress made against the Best 

Start to Life theme across the lifetime of the current Corporate Plan (Focus on the 

Future: wellbeing in our community).  The Committee seeks to measure the impact 

and progress of the Best Start to Life objective set out in the Plan: Children and 

young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 

be successful learners and confident individuals. 

 

1.2 The report responds to Members request to outline progress made against delivering 

the Best Start Wellbeing objective; and contains, where available, relevant data and 

information to provide evidence to support achieved outcomes.  The report will also 

include information on the key challenges faced and how these have been managed. 

  

1.3 The report makes explicit links to other key corporate strategies and policies that 

have been used to deliver the services.  It shows evidence of how progress towards 

more integrated ways of working have developed over the lifetime of the Plan and 

will clearly outline key lessons learned to provide intelligence that can be used when 

developing the next iteration of the Corporate Well-being Plan. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The content of this report is to be discussed by Committee Members, and 

performance data carefully scrutinised. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



2.2 Scrutiny Committee Members provide appropriate challenge on the report content 

and offer feedback to officers, which can be considered and utilised when planning 

for the next iteration of the Corporate Well-being Plan begins. 

 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Legislative Context 
 
3.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must 

work to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales 
by maximising our contribution to the seven national well-being goals. 
 

3.1.2 We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 
means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are 
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  
There are five ways of working that we need to adopt in order to show that we have 
applied the sustainable development principle; the five ways of working are: 

 

 Long-term 

 Collaborative 

 Preventative 

 Involvement; and 

 Integrated 
 

3.1.3 We will reflect on how we have developed our use of the five ways of working within 
the body of the report. 
 

3.2 Strategic Context and Service Delivery 
 

3.2.1 The Council is committed to delivering excellent services. It will do this by delivering 
its key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners. There are a 
number of key strategies and plans that focus on delivering excellent services in 
Education but the key strategy in which all of our work is strategically aligned to and 
underpinned by is the Raising Aspirations Raising Standards (RARS) Strategy. 
 

3.2.2 One of the two key themes within the RARS Strategy focuses on Partnership and 
Collaboration.  As a directorate, we work collaboratively with both internal and 
external partners.  We have developed and expanded our partnership working 
arrangements over the lifetime of the Corporate Plan; and we continue to explore 
further opportunities to integrate our key strategies and plans in order to strengthen 
our service delivery and continuously improve.  Sections 5.6 and 8.0 of this report 
will provide more detailed information on our partnership arrangements and how 
these have been strengthened over the course of the Plan. 

 

3.2.3 The Director of Education is accountable for reporting on the Best Start to Life 
objective.  The report will ensure that the outcomes clearly describe what the Best 
Start objective seeks to achieve.  The key long-term outcomes for Best Start are:  
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment 

 Children have access to high quality pre-school 

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  
 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing  Page 30

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted


4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Initial Development of the Corporate Wellbeing Plan 

 
4.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act is about improving the 

environmental, economic, cultural and social wellbeing of Wales.  Under this Act, the 
Council has a duty to ensure its wellbeing objectives are designed to maximise its 
contribution to achieving each of the seven wellbeing goals.  In doing so, the Council 
must take all reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet those objectives. 

 

4.1.2  The population assessment provides public services with an overview of the care 
and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range and level of services 
required to meet those needs.  A population assessment of wellbeing was carried out 
by partnership organisations that make up the Cwm Taf Public Service Board (PSB) 
to establish an overview of the care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and 
the range of services required to meet those needs.  A needs assessment was 
published in March 2017 and can be accessed on Our Cwm Taf1  website.  In 
addition, the Council worked together with residents to establish a baseline 
understanding of wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil.  This knowledge helped shape the 
wellbeing objectives and to understand potential responses to improve wellbeing.  

 
4.1.3 Our Statement of Wellbeing was published on 22nd March 2017 and was revised in 

our final publication on 28th June 2017.  The Statement explains how meeting our 
objectives will maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national 
wellbeing goals.  The Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community Plan was 
approved by Elected Members at the Full Council meeting on 26th July 2017.  The 
document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council 
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the 
County Borough. 

 
4.1.4 The Annual Performance Reports have demonstrated the progress made against the 

wellbeing objectives from the time when Focus on the Future was rolled out in 2017. 
The links to each of the Annual Performance Reports have been placed in the 
‘Background Papers’ section of this report. 

 
4.1.5 The current Corporate Plan (found in the ‘Background Papers’ section of this report) 

shows some of the key lessons learned over the lifetime of the Corporate Plan, along 
with highlighted progress on a year-by-year basis.  The Corporate Plan also outlines 
how we have continued to adapt and change our working practices in order to 
maintain and improve services, especially when dealing with pressures such as the 
Coronavirus pandemic.  A detailed report outlining the impact of the pandemic can 
be found in the ‘Background Papers’ of this report under Post Pandemic Recovery. 

    

                                            
1 The wellbeing assessment documents can be accessed via the Cwm Taf Hub Page 31

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=181&mid=444&fileid=34
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Well-being of our children and young people is of paramount importance, even more 

so as we move out of the coronavirus pandemic.  When children and young people 
have better health and well-being, they are more likely to be ready to learn and 
ultimately achieve better academic standards.  Raising standards of attainment is a 
key priority for the Council but this has to be set in the context of post pandemic 
recovery and partnership working.  
 

5.2 From the earliest possible opportunity, we recognise the need to work with families 
to ensure that our children have the best support to be equipped with the skills they 
need to reach their goals and their academic potential.  It is important to realise this 
ambition is everyone’s business.  Early years settings, families, youth settings, 
schools and wider partners have a key role in supporting our children and young 
people to achieve the very Best Start to life. 
 

5.3 Reflecting on the lessons learned throughout the life of the current Corporate Plan 
(please see background paper) has helped us shape our priorities for the next 
iteration of the Corporate Plan.  Education is one of the clearest predictors of life 
outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and well-being.  The objective integrates the complete educational journey, 
from early years through to compulsory schooling and post-16 and seeks to provide 
children and young people with the skills and attributes to help them improve their 
own lives.   
 

5.4 The key outcomes that Best Start to Life wants to achieve are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment; 

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education; 

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people; and 

 Children and young people have good health and emotional well-being 
 

5.5 The outcomes for Best Start to Life have been integrated into the Raising Aspirations 
Raising Standards (RARS) strategy.  The strategy aims to deliver the primary 
outcome of improving the educational outcomes for all children and young people 
through the following themes and goals. 
 

Theme 1: Partnership and Collaboration Theme 2: Post Pandemic Recovery 

Goal 1: Performance Management & Systems Governance 

Goal 2: Developing the Education Workforce 

Goal 3: Supporting Learners’ Health and Well-being 

Goal 4: Improving Achievement and Progression 

Goal 5: Developing the Environment for Learning 

 
5.6 Partnership and Collaboration 

 
5.6.1 To help achieve the RARS objectives, we have explored opportunities to strengthen 

our existing partnership working arrangements, whilst developing our level of 
engagement with exiting stakeholders.  

 

Page 32



5.6.2 Engagement with Children’s Services: A Headteachers Working Group has been set 
up to address concerns from both schools and Children’s Services about systems 
and processes – this will meet monthly and has representation from all primary 
clusters and from secondary schools. 

 A pilot programme with Social Services is being rolled out in two schools to 
support families and their children as they recover from the pandemic. 

 
5.6.3 Engagement with Central South Consortium (CSC): it is recognised within Merthyr 

Tydfil that there needs to be a robust framework to support schools giving the local 
authority confidence that all children and young people are progressing and 
achieving at least at the expected level if not higher.  A group of Headteachers have 
begun to deliver on this framework. 

 
5.6.4 Introduction of the Business and Education Together Partnership (BETP): the BETP 

concept was introduced to form a collaborative working partnership that will seek to 
engage with the local business community to form and sustain links that provide 
children and young people with an insight into the workplace, helping them to make 
informed choices about their future.  The BETP membership consists of local 
authority officers from Learning & Economic Growth, Careers Wales, The College, 
Merthyr, First Campus from University of South Wales and several businesses. 

 
5.6.5 A secondary Governors’ Strategic Working Party has been set up as well as a 

Headteachers’ Strategic Reference Group. 
 
5.6.6 A link with Jesus College Oxford for Year 8 pupils:  this has culminated in visits to 

Jesus College.  The College Merthyr Tydfil will continue to support these learners 
through their ‘More Able and Talented’ programmes.  These learners will also act as 
ambassadors to future year groups. 

 
5.6.7 Capacity Building: there have been a number of appointments in the department to 

support Additional Learning Needs (ALN) and additional staff in both the Capita One 
Team and 21st Century Schools.  This will support us in meeting the requirements of 
the ALNET Act, and the delivery of the Capita One Development Plan and Service 
Asset Management Plan (AMP). 
 

5.7 Post Pandemic Recovery 
 

5.7.1 Recovery Planning: there is still much to do in respect of recovery.  Additional 
monies from Welsh Government (WG) for the now statutory Whole School Approach 
to mental health and wellbeing will support additional counselling in schools and the 
continued rollout of the Nurture Approach across schools. 

 
5.7.2 The Whole School Approach to emotional and mental wellbeing was launched in 

March 2021 and is a key driver for schools.  We held a workshop with Headteachers 
and Governors to look at how the local authority, Public Health and the Consortia will 
support this agenda, and of course in Merthyr Tydfil we will also have support from 
Lloyds Foundation in this. 

 

Page 33



5.7.3 During summer 2021/22 there were two SHEP (Summer Holiday Enrichment 
Programmes) running across the local authority covering four schools (one 
programme encompassed the three faith schools in the County Borough) and we 
have worked with third sector youth-based provisions to secure activity-based 
provision for learners during the summer holiday period. 

 
5.7.4 Schools have had additional money from WG to employ additional staff to support 

the recovery process. 
 
5.7.5 Through additional funding from WG into Early Years, there has been bespoke 

provision into Nursery/ Reception to support Speech and Language. 
 

5.8 Data and Accountability Framework 
 

5.8.1 Each objective uses a consistent performance management framework which is 
captured on a resource known as SOAP – Strategy On A Page (Appendix A).  The 
SOAP identifies the well-being objective, outcomes and key performance indicators 
(KPIs) and forms the basis of self-evaluation and the departments Business 
Improvement Plans (BIPs). 

 
5.8.2 It is important to note that for the academic years 2019/20 and 2020/21, WG will not 

publish a range of performance measures across services, including all attainment 
measures (Flying Start, Schools, Youth Services) and attendance figures.  This 
affects the current KPIs as identified on the SOAP. 
 

5.8.3 We are in the process of developing a new Accountability Framework to enable us to 
report on key outcomes using local data.  The aim is to include both quantitative and 
qualitative measures that we can use to formulate a robust Accountability Framework 
that can be built into the Council’s corporate dashboard.  

 
5.8.4 The Framework is being developed through engagement with our key stakeholders 

including the CSC, WG and officers within the Council.  We also engaged with 
Members on this at a joint committee workshop (Learning & LGES and 
Transformation, Commercialisation & Corporate Centre) in April 2021.  

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 It is the ambition of the local authority to be closer to or above the modelled 

outcomes in all performance measures by 2022, and at or above the modelled 
outcomes in 2024.  However, given the changes in data publication, there is no way 
of measuring performance against Welsh averages, as WG is no longer publishing 
this data.  Additionally, the collecting and publication of various measures including 
attendance data, has been suspended as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. 

 
We will know things are better when all children and young people: 

 have high aspirations and expectations for themselves; 

 begin statutory education having experienced a good start to learning both at 
home and in pre-school education where appropriate; 

 are provided with education experiences that excite them and inspire them to 
learn and achieve; 

 are educated in settings that are relevant and appropriate to meeting the needs 
of a 21st century curriculum; 

Page 34



 leave primary schools’ literate, numerate and digitally competent, ready to 
continue their education confidently and successfully; 

 leave statutory schooling with the necessary attributes and life skills to enable 
them to make a successful transition to employment, education or training;  

 feel safe and have strong emotional well-being; 

 have a voice in plans that impact on their own future health and well-being and 
plans for future developments of their local environment; and 

 have the skills to adapt to challenges and are able to work as independent and 
interdependent citizens. 

 
6.2 By the end of the academic year 2021/22, there will be an Accountability Framework 

in place for all schools allowing progress to be detailed. 
 

6.3 Support for schools from CSC is having a positive impact on progress and 
outcomes. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Continue to explore opportunities to integrate and align our work to help improve 

service delivery by working with both internal and external stakeholders. 
 
7.2 Continue to monitor progress against key commitments and goals set out in the 

RARS Strategy; as well as delivering on our priorities set out in the Corporate Plan, 
RTI and our BIPs. 
 

7.3 Continue to measure and evaluate the impact of the pandemic through robust self-
evaluation and through appropriate measures within the Accountability Framework 
once established. 
 

7.4 Work with and hold CSC to account for delivery against objectives set out in the 
RARS commitments to action plan and to ensure the service provided is effective 
and good value for money. 

 
7.5 Establish working groups to deliver against 6.2. 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 

objective: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with 
the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals.  As a result 
of our ways of working changing over the lifetime of the plan, the services and 
activities delivered now clearly link with the other objectives within the Corporate 
Well-being Plan. 

 
8.2 The Best Start objective also supports the Living Well objective: (People are 

empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health). Some examples of this are: 

 

Page 35



 MTCBC working in collaboration with RCTCBC to deliver the regional work 
programme as set out by the National Fostering Framework through the 
Regional Development Manager for Fostering Services to create a regional front 
door for fostering recruitment.  This allows for an increase in the number of 
enquiries to fostering for MTCBC as well as improving response times to 
potential applicants and promoting a customer focussed response, which in turn 
can result in creating a better start to life for children throughout the County 
Borough. 

 Work within the Children’s Looked After Team (CLA) has helped individuals 
make positive changes to meet the needs of their children providing them with a 
stable, loving home environment.  The positive progress and rehabilitation plan 
gives the children a sense of normality and demonstrates to them as a family, 
that positive outcomes can be achieved. 

 The Pre-Birth Pathway has been developed across the service to enhance our 
work with families at a pre-birth stage to support children having the best start to 
life. 

 Family Group Conferencing has been embedded across Children’s Services to 
support families working together to support children and young people to safely 
remain at home. 

 Parental advocacy has been piloted to support families in communicating their 
views to promote them in coproducing care and support planning for their 
families to promote achieving better outcomes for children, young people and 
their families. 

 
8.3 A number of positive contributions have also been made towards the Working Life 

objective: (People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as 
an attractive destination).  A few examples of these are stated below: 

 

 When developing and constructing the Merthyr Tydfil’s Bus Interchange, work 
was undertaken with the primary contractors to deliver ‘taster’ sessions with local 
schools around topics such as engineering. 

 The Business and Education Partnership (BETP) will engage with children and 
young people across our schools for them to experience the world of work. 

 Schools and other settings introduce children and young people to the concept of 
place, and help broaden their understanding of their heritage and culture. 

 Supporting children and young people to attain higher skills supports a more 
skilled labour market. 

 
8.4 Best Start also works closely with colleagues in Neighbourhood Services 

(Environmental Wellbeing).  Some of the ongoing work activities to support this 
wellbeing theme include: 

 Awareness raising in relation to the need to ensure they recycle materials. 

 Provision and upkeep of green spaces which can be used by children, young 
people and their families free of charge. 

 Re-fit energy efficiency scheme reducing carbon emissions in schools and 
improving financial sustainability of energy use. 

 Provision of sustainable, low carbon and energy efficient school buildings with 
low maintenance costs through the 21st Century Schools Programme. 

Page 36



 
 
SUE WALKER 
DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION  

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR EDUCATION 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 

Annual Performance Reports 

Focus On The Future: 
Well-being in our 
Community - Annual 
Performance Report 
2017 - 2018 

 MTCBC Website  -  Annual 
Performance Report 2017 - 2018 

Focus On The Future: 
Well-being in our 
Community - 
Annual Performance 
Report 2018 - 2019 

 MTCBC Website – Annual 
Performance Report 2018/19 

Focus On The Future: 
Well-being in our 
Community - Annual 
Performance Report 
2019 - 2020 

 MTCBC Website – Annual 
Performance Report 2019/20 

Focus On The Future: 
Well-being in Our 
Community - 
Annual Performance 
Report 2020 - 2021 

 MTCBC Website – Annual 
Performance Report 2020/21 

 

Post Pandemic Recovery  

Covid-19 Recovery and 
Pupil Wellbeing 

8th November 2021 Covid-19 Recovery and Pupil 
Wellbeing 

Update on Activity - 
Pandemic 

21st September 2020 Update on Activity - Pandemic  

 
 

Do these reports contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 37

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/5465/annual-performance-report-2018-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/5465/annual-performance-report-2018-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/6133/annual-performance-report-2019-2020.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/6133/annual-performance-report-2019-2020.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/7262/annual-performance-report-2020-2021.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/7262/annual-performance-report-2020-2021.pdf
http://mtcbcelecreg.merthyr.gov.uk:9070/documents/g4608/Public%20reports%20pack%2008th-Nov-2021%2016.00%20Scrutiny%20Learning%20and%20LGES.pdf?T=10
http://mtcbcelecreg.merthyr.gov.uk:9070/documents/g4608/Public%20reports%20pack%2008th-Nov-2021%2016.00%20Scrutiny%20Learning%20and%20LGES.pdf?T=10
http://mtcbcelecreg.merthyr.gov.uk:9070/documents/g4420/Public%20reports%20pack%2021st-Sep-2020%2016.00%20Scrutiny%20Learning%20and%20LGES.pdf?T=10


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*This data is no longer collected 

*This data is no longer collected 

**No data available due to the impact of the pandemic 

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved 
% of Flying Start children taking up full or reduced offer of 
childcare 

90% 94% 96% 97% 100% 98% 100% 97% 100% 92% 

Parents engaged who improve their confidence and skills as 
a parent  

- 73% - 75% 78% 100% 80% 74% 80% 38% 

Families  through TAF support have their case closed with a 
positive outcome 

- 77% - 76% 60% 79% 64% * 66% * 

Families closed which do not re-engage for support or 
escalate to Social Services within 6 months of closure 

- - 50% 88% 50% 9% 54% * 56% * 

Eligible FS children, speech and language within normal 
limits on exit of pre-school at 3  

- 61% 65% 61% 66% 58% 66% - 66% 40% 

FS children achieving Outcome 1 in all 4 areas of the 
Foundation Phase Compact - 50% 52% 52% 53% 47% 53% - 53% 38% 

Pupils who achieve the expected level in the FPOI  93% 88.1% 92% 89.1% * * * * * * 
Pupils achieve the expected level in Key Stage 2 (CSI) 93% 90.2% 93% 90.2% * * * * * * 
Attendance of primary school pupils  96% 94.3% 96.5% 94.3% 96.5% 93.9% 96.5% 94.3% 96.5% 91.2% 
Attendance of secondary school pupils  96% 93% 96.5% 93% 96.5% 91.8% 96.5% 93.3% 96.5% 87.0% 
Secondary schools fixed term exclusions 5 days or fewer 
(Rate per 1,000 pupils)  

20 130 18 54.8 16 60.4 14 56.2 12 56.4 

Primary schools fixed term exclusions 5 days or fewer (Rate 
per 1.000 pupils)  

- 14.8 10 22 8 21.9 6 12.1  5.5 

Hooked on sport (data every 3 years)  - 48% 57% 46% 57% 46% ** ** ** ** 
Pupils achieve the L1 threshold  99% 95.4% 99% 95% * * * * * * 
Average capped 9 point score - 326.9 - 317.9 320.7 313.4 328.26 ** ** ** 
eFSM  Average capped 9 point score  - 309.5 - 282.6 283.4 295.9 285.02 ** ** ** 
Pupils achieve the L2 threshold inclusive  English or Welsh 
and mathematics 

62% 42.4% 62% 42% * * * * * * 

eFSM pupils achieve L2 threshold inclusive  English or Welsh 
and mathematics 

39% 23.5% 45% 29.4% * * * * * * 

Merthyr CLA pupils  L2 threshold inclusive  English or Welsh 
and mathematics 

- 9.1% 29.4% 12.5% * * * * * * 

OUTCOMES 

 

Children live in a 
nurturing and 

stimulating home 
environment  

Children have 
access to high 

quality pre-school 
and school  

Improve the educational 
outcomes for all children 

and young people  

Children and young 
people have good 

health and wellbeing  

Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with 
the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals 

How will Merthyr Tydfil CBC 

work?
Best start to Life 
 

CHIEF OFFICER:  

LEARNING 

Contributions From: 

Performance and Resource 
Early Years and Youth 
School Improvement 
Sports Development Team 

 

APPENDIX A 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Working Life Thematic Report – Review of Delivery of 
Key Objectives in the Corporate Well-being Plan 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Committee has requested a report be brought before them that looks back over 

the services delivered across the lifetime of the Council’s current Corporate Well-

being Plan (Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community) to secure the progress 

made and clarify the impact secured against the Working Life well-being objective 

contained in that Plan (People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet 

the needs of businesses; with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil 

an attractive destination). 

1.2 The report responds to Members request to outline progress made when delivering 

the Working Life well-being objective; and contains relevant data and information on 

outcomes claimed.  The report and its appendices will include information on key 

lessons learned in relation to this objective; as well as highlighting information on 

opportunities and key challenges faced and how they have been managed. 

1.3 The report makes explicit links to other key corporate strategies and policies which 

have been used to deliver the services; shows evidence of how progress towards 

more integrated ways of working have developed over the lifetime of the Plan.  

Information on key lessons learned aim to provide intelligence that can be used 

when developing the next iteration of the Corporate Well-being Plan 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The content of this report is to be discussed by Committee Members; and 

performance data carefully scrutinised. 

 

Date Written 7th February 2022 

Report Author Alyn Owen; Chris Long and Paul 
Lewis 

Service Area Community Regeneration 
Protection & Safety Services & 
Housing 

Committee Date 1st March 2022 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



 

2.2 Scrutiny Committee Members provide appropriate challenge on the report content; 

and offer feedback to officers which can be fully considered and utilised when 

planning for the next iteration of the Corporate Well-being Plan begins. 

 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Legislative Context 

3.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work 

to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 

maximising our contribution to the seven national well-being goals. 

3.2 We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 
means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are 
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  
There are five ways of working that we need to adopt in order to show that we have 
applied the sustainable development principle; the five ways of working are: 

 

 Long-term  Preventative  Integrated 

 Collaborative  Involvement  

Strategic Context and Service Delivery 

3.3 The Council is committed to delivering excellent services.  It will do so by delivering 

its key strategies and through joint working with a range of key partners and wider 

stakeholders.  The key strategies that focus on delivering excellent services 

supporting the Working Life well-being objectives are: 

 

 15 year Economic Vision & Economic Recovery Plan; 

 Economic Growth Strategy; 

 Taf Bargoed Strategy; 

 Heritage Strategy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil Strategic Valley Hub Placemaking Plan 2019-2025; 

 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Master Plan; 

 Active Merthyr Plan; 

 The Active Travel Plan; 

 MTCBC Homelessness Strategy; 

 Workforce Development Plan; 

 Town Centre Master Plan; 

 Local Development Plan 2016-2023; and 

 MTCBC’s Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan. 

 

 

 

 Page 42

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted


Through the creation of an Economic Recovery Plan; strategies have been refined 

so that; moving forward, all emerging action plans will align to the Recovery Plan 

unless there is a specific statutory requirement where a separate plan/strategy must 

be developed.  

3.4 The service areas work collaboratively with other departments both within the 

Council, with external partners via the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Public Service Board 

(PSB); the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB); with other local authorities on regional 

projects such as Cardiff and the Capital City Deal; as well as with multiple partner 

and stakeholder organisations across both the third and private sector. 

3.5 The Chief Officer for Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing is 

accountable for reporting on the wellbeing objective Working Life. The report will 

ensure that the outcomes clearly describe what the Working Life objective seeks to 

achieve.  The key outcomes for the Working Life objective are: 
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its economic potential; with a skilled workforce and 

better employment opportunities; 

 We value our built and natural environment, protecting and enhancing our 

heritage and cultural assets for current and future generations; and 

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how these affect others. 

 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Continuous improvement is a legal requirement and requires ongoing effort from 

MTCBC to improve its processes and services.  The principal legislation relevant to 

improvement planning within a public body: 
 

a) The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 

b) Equality Act 2010 

c) Social Services & Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 

d) Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

4.2 The principal legislation provides a common approach to: 
 

a) Setting objectives 

b) Planning for improvement 

c) Evaluating progress, and 

d) Reporting on improvement 
 

4.3 There have been some significant changes outside of the organisation over the 
past 5 years which have affected the local economy and; by extension; the residents 
of the County Borough.  These include: 

 

 An ongoing programme of welfare reform (e.g.) the roll-out of Universal Credit; 

changes to housing benefit etc.  

 The BREXIT vote and enactment of the UK leaving the European Union;  

 An ongoing period of austerity measures introduced by the UK government 

lasting approximately 10 years;   

 

 Page 43



 A developing housing crisis and rise in homelessness; ;  

 Diminishing manufacturing operations and higher levels of service-sector 

companies;  

 Increasing awareness of climate change;  

 The transition to a digital environment and the move to agile working ; and  

 The still unquantifiable longer-term impacts of Covid-19.    
 
All of these developments/changes have affected the delivery of Council 
services/activities to some degree; whether it be directly (such as having to sustain 
services with less resource); or indirectly (such as changes in the welfare system 
leading to an increase in demand for support from residents). 
 
Wellbeing Duty 

4.4 The Wellbeing Duty dictates that we, as a public body, must develop in a way that is 

sustainable over the long term, to improve the economic, social, environmental and 

cultural wellbeing of Wales. 

4.5 The Council’s primary contribution to prepare for the Wellbeing Duty is via the 

delivery of Cwm Taf population (wellbeing) assessment project, scenario planning 

and identifying proposals for wellbeing objectives.   

4.6 When we set out well-being objectives and take steps (actions) to meet these, we 

must demonstrate how we have applied the sustainable development principle (the 5 

ways of working), this means the Council must: 

 

(1) Balance short-term needs with the need to safeguard long-term needs; 

(2) Act to prevent problems occurring or getting worse; 

(3) Consider how our wellbeing objectives integrate with others' wellbeing 

objectives; 

(4) Act in collaboration to help meet the wellbeing objectives; and 

(5) Involve people with an interest in achieving the wellbeing goals. 
 

4.7 A collaborative approach to the development and planning of the Corporate Well-

being Plan was led by Corporate Management Team who worked with the Council’s 

Cabinet and Elected Members.  The draft population (well-being) assessment  

documents were presented to the Governance, Performance, Business Change and 

Corporate Services scrutiny on 17th January 2017; at this time the Committee formed 

a small task and finish group for review the assessment with a view to making 

recommendations to further strengthen these. 

4.8 On completion of this work; a draft Statement of Well-being was developed and 

taken before Full Council on 28th April 2017 for review and comment.  Approval of 

the Statement of Wellbeing was secured from Full Council; confirming 9 well-being 

objectives. 

4.9 Using the approved Statement of Well-being; a draft Corporate Well-being Plan was 

developed based upon the nine approved well-being objectives – two of these 

objectives related directly to the Working Life Theme: 

 

 

 Page 44



Working Life 

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future 

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish 

 

4.10 This report focuses on the Working Life theme and outlines the way in which 

services has worked have developed, changed and been strengthened.  Appendix 1 

offers an overview of all changes which have been actioned since the roll out of the 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan in 2017.  This document also offers an overview of the key 

lessons learned whilst delivering the Working Life theme; and how we have used 

these to further develop our ways of working. 

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Services are now operating in a new digital-first landscape; where changing 

customer expectations means the way we work also continues to evolve.  To remain 

fit for the future; services are engaged in a process of transformation.  Using more 

agile ways of working, services remain focused on achieving positive outcomes for 

people; working together to generate insights on how to create real value.   

5.2 Over the years in which our services have been delivering the Working Life objective; 

the Annual Performance Report has demonstrated the progress made against the 

wellbeing objectives since Focus on the Future was rolled out in 2017 

5.3 We have outlined the progress made against the relevant KPIs recorded in the 

Working Life Strategy on a Page and included the performance data included in each 

of the Annual Performance Reports published since delivery of the Corporate Plan 

began in 2017; this is shown in Appendix 2. 

5.4 There are a number of key projects which service areas are delivering to support and 

meet identified need.  Each of these projects has been established with full 

consideration being given to corporate and wider priorities; and the sustainable 

development principle (the five ways of working) have been utilised in all planning; 

delivery; monitoring and assessment activity.   

5.5 The Council developed a Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan (RTI 

Plan) in June 2020.  A fundamental aspect included within this Plan was the need lay 

out the steps the Council would take to support an effective economic recovery 

across the County Borough.   

5.6 We have provided a precis of the themes which have been developed in the Working 
Life/Economic Recovery theme if this plan below for Committee Members 
information.  A more detailed overview of progress made to date against the tasks 
and actions set down in the RTI Plan can be found in Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WORKING LIFE/ECONOMIC RECOVERY  
 
 
 
 
 

Develop a 15-year 
Economic Vision for the 

County Borough 
 

Realign the Economic 
Growth Strategy and create 

an Economic Recovery 
Board 

Analyse business activities 
and services, including a 

specific focus on Covid-19, 
to secure improved 
economic outcomes 

Develop and grow 
connections between the 

business sector and Merthyr 
Tydfil’s education providers 

 

   
 

Page 45



 
5.7 An update report on progress made against the actions and tasks set down in the 

Working Life / Economic Recovery project plan was taken to Regeneration & Public 
Protection scrutiny committee on 21st September 2021 where Committee Members 
explored the progress made to date in relation to the RTI Plan; and confirmed they 
were assured on the positive progress made. 
 

5.8 Appendix 3 offers an overview of how the progress being made by Teams over the 
lifetime of this Corporate Plan have been communicated to the public using content 
publicised via the Council’s main communication channels (e.g.) CONTACT 
magazine (which is delivered to every household across the County Borough) and 
social media channels. 

 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 By 2030, our ambition is for: 

 

 Working with key stakeholders, MTCBC will to improve the pace of change/ 
recovery in relation to the local economy, recognising that this cannot be 
achieved without the support and participation of key partners and businesses; 

 Develop Merthyr’s extended landscape and built heritage into an international 
quality visitor destination and experience;  

 To have developed a well-connected Economic Growth Partnership where 
information and outcomes are jointly owned and shared.  By achieving this goal, 
we aim to maximise the positive connections to produce positive results;  

 To develop the Town Centre as a Strategic Hub as part of the Cardiff City Region 
Metro focusing on transport infrastructure, physical regeneration and place-
making;  

 Make positive progress against the tasks and actions set down in the Recovery, 
Transformation and Improvement Plan; and  

 Use lessons learned to inform development and delivery of the key projects and 
programmes that will support delivery of MTCBC’s next Corporate Well-being 
Plan.  

 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Having completed the process to produce this reflective report; we have identified a 

number of key ‘lessons learned’ that will provide a focus to support the development 
of the new Corporate Well-being Plan; and which will inform the delivery of our future 
strategic priorities and operational projects. 
 

7.2 Develop and deliver our current strategic priorities: 
 
a) Implementation of the Economic Recovery Plan; 

b) Emergence of the UK Government’s Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) and the 

Levelling-up Fund; 

c) A465 – Northern Gateways development; 

d) The delivery of major projects including Glebeland Site and transport interchange 

between bus and rail services. (Signature Sites); Page 46



e) The Delivery of the Masterplan for the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area;  

f) A review master plan at Hoovers Site;  

g) The Development of the Southern Valley Strategy; and  

h) The Development of the Housing Support Programme Strategy. 

 
7.3 Continue to develop and deliver our top operational projects: 
 

i. The redevelopment of the former bus station (Glebeland Site);  

ii. Train Station development to include bottom of High Street and Gillar Street; 

iii. The redevelopment of the YMCA;  

iv. Delivery of the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area masterplan; 

v. The further development of Tourism and Destination Development;  

vi. The redevelopment of Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Swimming Pool and Skate Park; 

vii. Tackling the increase in Homelessness; 

viii. The housing development at Dragon Parc; and  

ix. The remediation and residential housing development scheme at Heartlands, 

Dowlais. 

 
7.4 Further develop the Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing Board 

ensuring departmental connectivity is at the forefront of its development.  

Additionally; it is critical to maintain the excellent working relationships with external 

partners and stakeholders effectively deliver work undertaken (i.e.) it is an embedded 

culture across Protection and Safety Service teams to work with South Wales Police 

(e.g.) Licensing and the Police work hand in hand to carry out day-to-day activities; 

7.3 Further develop the Economic Growth Partnership ensuring partnership ownership 

and engagement is of real benefit to partners; 

7.4 Further develop the Economic Recovery Board ensuring the Board maintains 

oversight of the work in relation to the Economic Recovery element of the Council’s 

Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Plan; 

7.5 Further development of the Merthyr Tydfil Community Safety partnership; 

7.6 Development of the new CCTV technology in relation to a range of enforcement 

activities; especially associated with the Town Centre; 

7.7 Restructure MTCBC’s response and enforcement of Fly Tipping; 

7.8 As part of Covid recovery; continue to engage with and support local Businesses; 

and ensure they are fully aware and supported to receive as much direct grant aid to 

ensure Business survival; 

7.9 Continue to positively respond to the requirement’s laid down by both the UK and 

Welsh Government in relation to the provision of effective support, advice and 

guidance to communities in relation to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic; 

7.10 Continue to positively progress all tasks and actions within the Working 
Life/Economic Recovery project plan supporting delivery of the Council’s Recovery, 
Transformation and Improvement Plan; 

 

Page 47



7.11 Protection and Safety Services aim to further develop effective data capture methods 
to further demonstrate both the economic and social value of the services; 

 
7.12 We will review the Counter –Terrorism duty in line with new responsibilities and 

Home Office guidance; and 
 
7.13 Continue with the development of the Merthyr Tydfil Community Safety partnership. 
 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 As a result of our ways of working changing over the lifetime of the plan; the services 

and activities delivered now clearly link with the other objectives within the Corporate 

A number of factors have had an impact on performance Well-being Plan. 

8.2 Working Life work supports the outcomes within the Best Start to Life well-being 

objective in a number of ways (e.g.)  members of the Council’s Employability team sit 

on the Business and Education Together Partnership (BETP); with officers leading 

on specific tasks and actions within the BETP’s Action Plan. 

8.3 Working Life has developed close working relationships with the services overseen  

by the Chief Officer: Environmental Wellbeing and their services operate 

collaboratively on a number of levels (e.g.)  Working closely with the Planning and 

Estates department has supported better outcomes when developing and delivering 

projects and activities.  Members and officers also regularly attend the CRPPH 

Board meetings.  

8.4 Working Life work closely with colleagues across Social Services who deliver the  
Living Well corporate wellbeing objective.  This work consists of a number of 
connections to meet the needs of our service users (e.g.) working with the Protection 
and Safety Services acting as a key connector to services that support those at risk 
of or experiencing Domestic Violence-related issues; and via close working 
relationships developed between the Social Services team and the Housing and 
Homelessness officers to support earlier identification of people at risk of 
homelessness so that targeted support can be put in place.   

 
 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE   

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
DEPUTY LEADER WITH PORTFOLIO FOR 

REGENERATION, TRANSFORMATION AND 
COMMERCIALISATION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Report to Full Council: Focus on the Future: 

wellbeing in our community 
26/07/2017 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report: Working Life – Making Skills 

work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the 

workforce of the future 

12/09/2017 Click here for report 

Page 48

https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s36443/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s36624/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


Scrutiny Report:  Working Life – Developing the 

environment and infrastructure for business to 

flourish 

24/10/2017 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report:  Working Life – Making Skills 

work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the 

workforce of the future 

05/12/2017 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report:  Working Life – Developing the 

environment and infrastructure for business to 

flourish 

16/01/2018 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report:  Working Life – Making Skills 

work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the 

workforce of the future 

17/04/2018 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report:  Working Life – Developing the 

environment and infrastructure for business to 

flourish 

17/04/2018 Click here for report 

Report to Full Council:  Annual Performance 

Report 
24/10/2018 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report:  Working Life 09/04/2019 Click here for report 

Report to Full Council:  Annual Performance 

Report 
23/10/2019 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report:  Working Life 26/11/2019 Click here for report 

Report to Full Council: Annual Performance 

Report 
 Click here for report 

Working Life Update 12/01/2021 Click here for report 

Scrutiny Report:  Recovery, Transformation & 

Improvement Plan: Working Life/Economic 

Recovery 

21/09/2021 Click here for report 

Report to Full Council: Annual Performance 

Report 
 Click here for report 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the 
Council’s Constitution?  

 

NO 

 
 

Page 49

https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s37158/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s37686/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s38187/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s39862/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s39861/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s42035/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s44103/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s46772/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s47006/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/6133/annual-performance-report-2019-2020.pdf
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s52951/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s55356/Merthyr%20Tydfil%20Recovery%20Transformation.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/7262/annual-performance-report-2020-2021.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community Working Life review 2017-2021 

2016-2017 
 
Planning & 
Development 
Stage 

  Corporate Performance Team members actively support the development of Joint Needs Assessment for the Cwm Taf region (including public engagement) 

 Officers across the Council work to identify corporate well-being objectives / priorities introducing the ‘five ways of working’ as laid out in the Wellbeing of Future  
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 Engagement with Elected Members took place to review the DRAFT Corporate Well-being Plan; testing the proposed objectives validity; reviewing the proposed  
        governance arrangements supporting delivery of the Plan etc. 

 The DRAFT Corporate Wellbeing Plan taken to Governance Scrutiny for review and challenge 

 DRAFT Corporate Wellbeing Plan (Focus on the future: wellbeing in our community) presented to Full Council for review, challenge  
Approval secured 26 July 2017 (within required timescales); and Plan goes ‘live’. 
 

 

WORKING LIFE 
 

LESSONS LEARNED 
 

Year 1:  2017-
2018 
 
Accountable 
Officer: 
Chief Officer: 
Community 
Regeneration  
 

Two wellbeing objectives set 

WL1 – Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing a workforce for 
the future 

WL2 – Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to 
flourish  
 

Outcomes: 

1. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing a workforce for 
the future 

2. Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to 
flourish 

3. Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets 

4. Developing safer communities 
5. Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the 

housing market. 

 

Wellbeing Champions appointed: 

WL1 – Mark Thomas 

WL2  - Annabel Lloyd 

 
Scrutiny:   
Reports on progress against the objectives were reviewed by the 
Regeneration & Public Protection scrutiny at every meeting from 
September onwards. 

The following lessons learned led to refocusing of the approach for Year 2: 
 
There was a need to streamline the process: 

 Manageability - multiple attendance by the same officers to numerous committees; 

 Congested agendas- potentially reducing the ability for members to effectively scrutinise;  

 Objectives are integrated across broad service areas which are misaligned with the existing 
committee structures; or  

 Objectives are integrated and cover broad topics which are do not always align with the area 
of focus of committees. 

        Performance Team observations: 

 Content – To date, there appears to be a large variation in the content and style of the 
Wellbeing scrutiny reports; 

 The Service Improvement Framework (SIF) needs to be applied and used across all wellbeing 
objectives to ensure a consistent methodology for judging progress and performance. 

There was a need to review how data was being used to support delivery decisions:: 

 Inconsistent approach to target setting; 

 Lack of comparative or trend data; 

 Limited options for presenting data; 

 Need for numerator and denominators;  

 Inconsistent use of data from both officers and Members (e.g.) KPIs not measuring impact 

There was a need for clearer reporting and information sharing:: 

 Lines of enquiry can be limited because objectives are presented one at time- not enough 
integration 

 Opportunities to share and generate business intelligence and knowledge are reduced 
because scrutiny is by objective  

Appendix 1 

P
age 51



 The application of the SD principle (five ways of working) is often limited to wellbeing 
objectives where it needs to be applied across all Council functions. 

 The Council’s Champion role (occupied by elected Members) could be more effectively used 
if they were aligned with the role with the Wellbeing Champion (occupied by senior officers). 

General 

 Having several wellbeing objectives under each wellbeing theme led to some silo working 
occurring; and on occasion made scrutiny of reporting/processes more challenging  

 The role of the Wellbeing Champions yielded minimum advantages; and as such would be 
better removed 

 The scrutiny and performance monitoring roles were initially confused and required 
amendment to provide greater clarity, supporting their effectiveness 

 Performance recording/ reporting of against multiple objectives proved challenging - 
multiple scrutiny reports required for each objective 

 The frequent update reports on progress against the well-being objectives was found to 
congest scrutiny agenda and did add a significant burden to officers writing the reports – it 
was deemed beneficial to review the frequency of reporting for the future years. 

Year 2:  2018-
2019 
 
Accountable 
Officer: 
Chief Officer: 
Community 
Regeneration 
& Housing 
 

The two wellbeing objectives were merged into one: 

People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of both 
established and new businesses, with a developing, safe, attractive 
infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as a ‘must visit’ destination 
 

Outcomes: 

1. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing a workforce for 
the future 

2. Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to 
flourish 

3. Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets 

4. Developing safer communities 
5. Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the 

housing market. 

Scrutiny:  Agreement was secured that an annual thematic report would 
be taken to the Governance; Performance, Business Change and 
Corporate Performance scrutiny committee. 
 

The following lessons learned led to refocusing of the approach for Year 3: 
 

There was a need to streamline and broaden the outcome statements to maximise opportunities to 
contribute to these: 

 The work undertaken to improve collaborative planning, services delivery etc. highlighted 
that having 5 service-specific outcome statements was a barrier to some of the opportunities 
cross-Council taking place; streamlining and updating the outcome descriptors would act as a 
catalyst to greater degrees of collaborative working. 

There was a continuing need to review data collected to ensure it enabled impact to be measured 
effectively: 

 As a number of local metrics were being used; it was noted there was a lack of comparative 
or trend data which meant it was difficult to measure impact other than against a target that 
had been locally set; 

 Limited options for presenting data were in place which could act as a barrier to both officer 
and democratic scrutiny; 

 The use of numerator and denominators remained inconsistent when reporting  

The use of the sustainable development principle to delivery services/activities had developed and 
showed improvement 

 Feedback received from Welsh Audit Office showed the positive outcomes arising as a result 
of using the 5 ways of working were clearly evidenced and could be strengthened further.  
This approach would now be used for all services, projects and programmes delivered by the 
team 

 

  

P
age 52



Year 3:    2019-
2020 
 
Accountable 
Officer: 
Chief Officer: 
Community 
Regeneration, 
Public 
Protection  & 
Housing 
 

Delivery against a single wellbeing objective continues 

People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of both 
established and new businesses, with a developing, safe, attractive 
infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as a ‘must visit’ 
destination 
 
Outcomes: 

1. Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled 
workforce and better employment opportunities 

2. We value and enjoy our built and natural environment, protecting 
and enhancing our heritage and cultural assets for current and 
future generations 

3. We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where 
people take responsibility for their own actions and how this 
affects others 

 
Scrutiny:  Annual thematic report to be drafted and to be taken before 
the Governance; Performance, Business Change and Corporate 
Performance scrutiny committee. 
 

The following lessons learned led to refocusing of the approach for Year 4: 
 

The move to work in a more integrated manner across the team had led to improvements; and 
focus should now be placed on developing more integrated ways of working across all services 
within the Council  

 The work undertaken to improve collaborative planning was seen to improve collaboration 

across more teams across the directorate; with joined up working improving officer 

understanding of all elements of the Chief Officer’s services (e.g.) bringing all leads together 

to offer updates on services changes and challenges at the Community Regeneration, Public 

Protection and Housing Board).   

 Work would be undertaken to strengthen the working arrangements between these services 

and Education, Social Services, Neighbourhood Services/Planning and Estates with a view to 

developing integrated project/service planning  

The work to focus on developing more integrated ways of working across all services within the 
Council and with key partners and stakeholders was showing improving outcomes 

 The refocusing of MTCBC’s Community Regeneration; Public Protection and Housing Board 

(CRPPH) meant that regular discussions were proving meaningful; with improved information 

sharing supporting more effective discussions and decision-making  

 Large scale developing regeneration projects were now planned collaboratively; supporting a 
wider understanding of processes and priorities; and the development of clear roles and 
responsibilities when assessing who would deliver aspects of the plans. 

 

Year 4:    2020-
2021 
 
Accountable 
Officer: 
Chief Officer: 
Community 
Regeneration 
& Housing 
 

Delivery against a single wellbeing objective continues 

People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of both 
established and new businesses, with a developing, safe, attractive 
infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as a ‘must visit’ 
destination 
 
Outcomes: 

1. Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled 
workforce and better employment opportunities 

2. We value and enjoy our built and natural environment, protecting 
and enhancing our heritage and cultural assets for current and 
future generations 

3. We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where 
people take responsibility for their own actions and how this 
affects others 

 

The following lessons learned led to refocusing of the approach for Year 5: 
 

Performance data outlining progress against the corporate well-being objectives in the Council’s 

Corporate Well-being Plan clearly showed the impact of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic  

 Performance against the key performance indicators over the past 5 years has in general, 
been sustained or improved.  However, over 2020-2021; the impact on the delivery of 
services affected by the ongoing pandemic can be clearly seen.  (Appendix 2 offers a visual 
representation of the changes in performance over 5 years) 

 The Working Life Strategy on a Page shows this impact quite starkly in some areas (e.g.) the 
decrease in visitor numbers to the town as a result of ongoing restrictions/lockdowns.   

 Other services have been disrupted but, through design and development of different ways 
to deliver services; good progress has still been made (e.g.) employability services providing 
digital options for training and development opportunities.  

 Through the work undertaken in the development of the Council’s RTI Plan; the validity of 
the key themes for improvement can be measured. 

P
age 53



Scrutiny:  Annual thematic report to be drafted and to be taken before 
the Governance; Performance, Business Change and Corporate 
Performance scrutiny committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Changes made to manage and deliver services as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic provided initial 
challenges but when these were addressed, services were sustained and developed to meet 
new/emerging needs 

 The service areas upon which this report focuses; and indeed Council as a whole, has been 
able to positively respond and work differently. Accessing the support available as part of the 
Council’s digital agenda (e.g. through the purchase of Microsoft Teams licenses), officers 
have been able to work remotely; stay securely connected; and limited risk from the 
pandemic whilst also ensuring continued service delivery to the public. 

 Public Protection services such as Environmental Health, Trading Standards and Licensing 
have had to reprioritise workloads to commit to the new additional statutory duties relating 
to business opening and COVID-19 measures 

 In order to meet the demands of the pandemic many of the day to day services such as food 
inspections have had to be scaled right back but support has been provided to food business 
virtually so that they can produce and deliver food safely, particularly as many have changed 
their business models. 

 Protection & Safety Services and Environmental Health have had to react and incorporate 
new emergency powers and carry out enforcement work whilst ensuring staff are protected 
in what could be high risk environments. Together with Trading Standards and Licensing 
Officers, Environmental Health Officers have played a critical role in enforcing the new 
emergency legislation. 

 Partnership working has been key. Integration and collaboration have been the cornerstone 
of the work undertaken by the service areas producing this report. We have changed the way 
we work across the organisation in many cases further developing working relationships to 
achieve unforeseen benefits (e.g.) closer working arrangements between our service areas 
and the Revenues and Benefits team has enabled us to more effectively meet the needs of 
local businesses. We plan to sustain and continue to develop this work. 

 The well-developed working relationships with key external partners and stakeholders have 
enhanced the teams’ responsiveness to the challenges faced. The breadth of work 
undertaken linked to managing the requirements the pandemic response introduced has 
been on a huge scale and largely reactive at the start of the process 

 Officers’ adaptability to meet complex, emerging needs arising from the pandemic was 

critical; roles varied between enforcement and advice/support.  The initial stage was to 

engage and explain and to support residents to remain safe; and support businesses to 

manage the major challenge lockdowns brought; many methods were utilised including the 

corporate website and social media – these proved vital tools for connecting with 

communities and keeping updated guidance available at all times. 

 A clear focus of delivery over this period was the support provided to local businesses that 

were forced to close, to ensure they could remain sustainable when unable to trade.  The 

strong working relationships developed across the Council enabled local businesses to 

P
age 54



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

successfully access Welsh Government grants in order to do this, with approximately £40m 

of funding being secured. 

 Some areas of service delivery had to be temporarily put on hold (e.g.) employability services 

could not deliver their usual services at the initial stages due to restrictions around face to 

face meetings.  To ensure participants continued to receive the support they required 

around their training and development; officers developed a raft of online learning 

opportunities which were successfully delivered. 

 The Authority implemented an enforcement campaign to ensure only businesses that were 

permitted to open were doing so and that these premises implemented social distancing 

measures to protect customers.  The Council worked with local businesses and South Wales 

Police to deliver a number of actions to support the Town Centre to return to trade safely 

(e.g.) to allocate PPE; implement signage and floor markings to support social distancing and 

pedestrian flow; and to remove barriers in the former central Bus Station (again to support 

more effective social distancing).  Review of these measures demonstrated that this had had 

a positive impact on safety levels in the Town Centre.  

 Environmental Health Officers were at the forefront of ‘Test, Trace and Protect’ acting as 

professional leads first for the local contact tracing service and then as members of the 

regional Cwm Taf Morgannwg team. The demands on the service have been significant with 

a small team working evenings, weekends and throughout bank holidays to try to keep our 

residents safe. 
 

There was a need to ensure that the planning to develop priorities for recovery and improvement 
ties directly back to support delivery of Council’s wellbeing objectives in Focus on the Future 

 During 2020-2021, MTCBC identified it needed to improve the effectiveness of services 

delivering programmes/projects to meet identified need; and due regard must be given to 

this when refocusing the corporate plan. 

 The Council developed a Recovery, Transformation and Improvement (RTI) Plan which had 

four key themes have been identified in relation to the Working Life / Economic Recovery 

element of the RTI Plan: 

 Create a 15-year Vision for the economy of Merthyr Tydfil; 

 Realign the Economic Growth Strategy and create an Economic Recovery Board; 

 Undertake detailed analysis of business activities and services; and 

 Develop and grow connections between the business sector and Merthyr Tydfil’s 

education provision. 

 
 

P
age 55



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reflecting on the service’s status through completion of the Corporate Self-Evaluation Process 
showed positive progress around provision and service delivery 

 Following completion of the self-evaluation process; officer challenge sessions took place.  

The summary findings report was presented to the Regeneration and Public Protection 

scrutiny committee on 13th April 2021 where the following self-evaluative judgements were 

agreed and confirmed by Committee Members: 
 

Outcomes:                         
Adequate 

Strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects 
require improvement 

Provision and 
Service Delivery: 

Adequate 

Strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects 
require improvement 

Leadership & 
Management: 

Good 

Strong features, although minor aspects may require 
improvement 

 

 Activity showed further development was required in both the ‘Outcomes’ and ‘Provision 
and Service Delivery’ areas; whilst the positive outcomes noted linked to ‘Leadership and 
Management’ areas must be sustained 

Year 5:    2021-
2022 
 
Accountable 
Officer: 
Chief Officer: 
Community 
Regeneration 
& Housing 
 

Delivery against a single wellbeing objective continues 

People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of both 
established and new businesses, with a developing, safe, attractive 
infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as a ‘must visit’ 
destination 
 
Outcomes: 

1. Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled 
workforce and better employment opportunities 

2. We value and enjoy our built and natural environment, protecting 
and enhancing our heritage and cultural assets for current and 
future generations 

3. We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where 
people take responsibility for their own actions and how this 
affects others 

 

Progress made against the Council’s well-being objectives laid out in the Council’s Corporate Well-

being Plan continued to show some improvement; despite the impact of Covid-19 

 Performance against the key performance indicators over 2021-2022 has shown sustained 
progress being made against targets set in most of the areas noted in the Corporate Plan –
Appendix 2 offers an overview of year on year progress 

 The increased integration across the Council has led to some of these services operating 

more effectively, efficiently and economically.  Joint planning continued to show positive 

results (e.g.) several medium term delivery plans which had been collaboratively developed 

received approval from Full council (e.g.) Town Centre Master Plan; the Cyfarthfa Plan; and 

the Economic Recovery Plan and 15-year economic vision 

Reflection on service status through completion of the Corporate Self-Evaluation Process showed 
clear improvement in relation to the Provision and Service Delivery element 

 Following completion of the self-evaluation process; the summary findings report is 

scheduled to be received by Members of the Regeneration and Public Protection scrutiny 

Committee on 8th March 2022. 

P
age 56



Scrutiny:  Annual thematic report to be drafted and to be taken before 
the Transformation, Commercialisation & Corporate Services scrutiny 
committee. 
 

 The following self-evaluative judgements are scheduled to be presented at Regeneration & 

Public Protection Scrutiny on 8th March 2022; with a view to these self-assessed judgements 

being confirmed/agreed by Committee Members: 

Outcomes:                         
Adequate 

Strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects 
require improvement 

Provision and Service 
Delivery: 

Good 

Strong features, although minor aspects may require 
improvement 

Leadership & 
Management: 

Good 

Strong features, although minor aspects may require 
improvement 

 
 

Year 5:    2021-
2022 
 
Accountable 
Officer: 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 

Delivery against a single wellbeing objective continues 

People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of both 
established and new businesses, with a developing, safe, attractive 
infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as a ‘must visit’ 
destination 
 
Outcomes: 

1. Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled 

workforce and better employment opportunities 

2. We value and enjoy our built and natural environment, protecting 

and enhancing our heritage and cultural assets for current and 

future generations 

3. We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where 

people take responsibility for their own actions and how this 

affects others 

 
Scrutiny:  Annual thematic report to be drafted and to be taken before 
the Transformation, Commercialisation and Corporate Services scrutiny 
committee. 
 

Lessons on each of the Recovery and Improvement priorities in the RTI Plan are listed below   

Positive progress was achieved in relation to the development of a 15-year Economic Vision 
Merthyr Tydfil and subsequent Economic Recovery Plan  

- The pandemic did impact on the ability to undertake the consultation and engagement 

element of the Vision development; and this did impact on original timescales set down for 

specific tasks and actions to be completed. 

- Engagement did secure evidence for the development of key themes which could be built 

into the proposals for the Vision / Recovery Plan - consultation with key stakeholders to ‘test’ 

possible themes was critical to the development of a DRAFT Vision and Recovery Plan 

documents; 

- At the stage where a draft was available; there was further testing via follow-up consultation 

and engagement activities; intelligence gathered was used to finalise the documentation; the 

Economic Vision and Recovery Plan were presented and approved by Full Council on 3rd 

November 2021. 

Realigning the Economic Growth Strategy and create an Economic Recovery Board has 
strengthened the governance in relation to key projects and programmes 

- Using new and developed evidence bases; engagement with the Economic Growth 

Partnership (EGP) supported the review of key findings of Vision and Recovery Plan; and 

enabled the impact it would have on the Economic Growth Strategy (EGS). 

P
age 57



- Key stakeholders were identified to sit on MTCBC’s Economic Recovery Board and using the 

evidence and intelligence available, this has ensured the Board Members were involved in 

the development and shaping of the Economic Vision and Recovery Plan.  

- Developing an architecture for the Board; ensuring sound governance and performance 

management arrangements are in place; and developing a Work Programme has supported 

the Board to contribute to (and maintain oversight of) the preparation of the Economic 

Recovery activities.  The Board is developing a Work Programme outlining key work-streams. 

A detailed analysis of business activities and services enabled Council services to provide targeted 
support residents and local businesses 

- Officers developed a model to be used to capture all relevant data and information with a 

specific focus on identifying the impact of Covid-19 on businesses.  Analysis of the Covid-19 

related data enabled officers to identify the scale of support to date; and to use this 

intelligence to inform future support offer, as well as adding context to wider service 

priorities. 

- Early steps were taken to explore the introduction of a Customer Relationships Management 

(CRM) to review options and opportunities arising from securing a system to improve the 

collection; co-ordination and management of customer data.  Through this work; the 

opportunity to transfer this work-stream to sit with the developing Commercialisation theme 

was identified and this has now taken place. 

A clear plan is now in place to develop and grow connections between the business sector and 
Merthyr Tydfil’s education provision   

- A work-stream to enable children and young people to have the opportunity to experience 

wider employment opportunities has been developed working closely with colleagues in 

Education; and relevant key stakeholders. 

- The Business and Education Together Partnership was collaboratively initiated to develop an 

action plan designed to meet the needs of children and young people as they prepare to 

enter further/higher education; volunteering or work opportunities – this has helped identify 

wider employment opportunities through engagement with HEs, Businesses & Careers Wales 

(through BETP). 

- The activities to be delivered by the BETP member organisations are aligned to the priorities 

contained within the Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards Strategy (RARS) and Economic 

Recovery Plan.  As part of this; opportunities to secure intelligence on learner aspirations has 

been developed so these can be encompassed in future planning. 

 

P
age 58



OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE DATA:  WORKING LIFE  

The first section of this appendix covers national indicators.  These link to data collected by Welsh Government - Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council’s services contribute to; but are not wholly accountable for, this data. 

 

  
Source:  StatsWales 
 

 

 
Source:  NOMIS 
 

                     

The number of paid employees has generally increased in recent years, but fell during 
the pandemic. The number of paid employees began increasing again at the end of 2020 
and is now above the pre-pandemic level.    

Comparing the national employment rate with the rate for Merthyr Tydfil made up from 
data from all agencies/organisations supporting people into employment; both can be 
seen to decline; however; the Welsh average shows a decline of -0.6% over the past 4 
years; whilst in Merthyr Tydfil; this decline is shown to be -8.2% over the same period.   

The Covid pandemic has had an impact on the employment rate; with businesses having 
adapt or stop trading for a period as a result of lockdowns etc.  The high level of high 
service/tourism sector employers operating in Merthyr Tydfil have been heavily impacted 
as a result of Covid 19; this impact was minimised through the support offered to local 
businesses to secure sustainability grants from Welsh Government 

 

National Vocational Qualifications (NVQs) are deemed to be those that assess 
knowledge, understanding and/or skills that relate explicitly to the world of work. There 
are a large number and variety of vocational qualifications offered in Wales; and also a 
wide number of awarding bodies offering them. 

Comparing the national average data against the Merthyr Tydfil-specific data; it can be 
seen that the general trend for Qualifications at NVQ 2 or above has been lower than 
the Welsh average for the period reviewed.  Over the 4 year period reviewed for this 
report; Welsh average qualifications data showed at +2.4% improvement between 
2017/18 and 2020/21; this compared to a -2.9% decline for Merthyr Tydfil for the same 
period. 

However, it is notable that from 2018/19; the gap between Merthyr Tydfil’s performance 
and the Welsh average has begun to narrow from -16.6% in 2018/19 to -13.2% for 
2020/21 (an improvement of 3.4%) 

72.8 73.1 73.6
72.2

74
72.2

68.9

65.8

60

62

64

66

68

70

72

74

76

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Percentage of working aged population in employment                          
(at 31 March)

Welsh average Local Data

Poly. (Welsh average) Poly. (Local Data)

74.1 74 74 76.5

66.2
57.4 59.9

63.3

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Percentage of working aged people in who are qualified at                 
NVQ Level 2 or above (at 31 March)

Welsh Average Local data

Poly. (Welsh Average) Poly. (Local data)

NATIONAL DATA 

Appendix 2 

P
age 59

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/EmploymentRate-by-WelshLocalArea-Year
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157399/subreports/quals_time_series/report.aspx?


 
                   

 

Source:  NOMIS 
 

 

    
Source:  Infobase Cymru 
 

 

The target for this measure would be to see a reduction in the number of people with 
no qualifications.  Comparing the national average data against the Merthyr Tydfil-
specific data; it can be seen that the general trend shows local performance has 
remained stubbornly above the Welsh average during the period reviewed.   

Over the 4 year period reviewed for this report; Welsh average qualifications data 
showed at 1% improvement between 2017/18 and 2020/21; this compared to a -1.5% 
decline for Merthyr Tydfil for the same period.  This area remains a priority to be 
addressed; and the Economic Growth Partnership is a key connector to better co-
ordinate the actions being undertaken by agencies/organisations working to improve 
this. 

Under the second section of this appendices; you will find the MTCBC-specific data 
generated from the services delivered by MTCBC’s Employability programmes.  It is clear 
to see the impact Covid-19 can be observed during 2020-2021 and 2021-2022; however, 
the level of outcomes secured has generally shown a year on year improvement. 

 
 
                    
 

 

The Council would look for a reduction in the number of young people aged 16-18 years 

who are not in education, employment or training. 

When comparing Merthyr Tydfil-specific data with the Welsh average data; it can be 

seen that the general trend for the rate of young people aged 16-18 years who are not 

in education, employment or training in Merthyr Tydfil has increased from 1.0% in 2017-

2018 to 2.7% in 2020-2021 (a 1.7% increase) whilst the Welsh average figure has 

reduced.   

It is important to note that the percentage rate equates to a relatively small group of 

young people (e.g.) in 2019-2020; 2.1% equated to 11 young people; in 2021-22; 2.7% 

equated to 14 young people. 

The impact of the pandemic on NEET levels has yet to be fully realised. 

8.7 8.6 8.5
7.7

16.4

14.1
16

14.9

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Percentage of working age population with no qualification

Welsh Average Local data

Linear (Welsh Average) Linear (Local data)

2

1.6
1.8 1.7

1
1.3

2.1

2.7

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Percentage of 16-18 year olds not in education, 
employment or training

Wales average Local data

Poly. (Wales average) Poly. (Local data)P
age 60

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157399/subreports/quals_time_series/report.aspx?
https://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/themes/children,youngpeopleandeducation/youngpeople/report?reportId=6&viewId=1411&geoReportId=24285&geoId=1&geoSubsetId=


 
                        

 

Source:  StatsWales 
 

             

 
Source:  StatsWales 
 

 

Comparing the national average data against the Merthyr Tydfil-specific data; it can be 
seen that the trend for the rate of business births has generally remained above the 
Welsh average during the period reviewed.   

However; looking at the performance for Merthyr Tydfil year on year; we can see the 
general trend has declined from 17.9% in 2016-2017 to 12.1% in 2020-2021.  A high 
proportion of businesses in Merthyr Tydfil are service based (e.g.) shops, 
restaurants/cafes etc.  These small businesses often find meeting their start-up costs 
(business rates; utilities etc.) more challenging to secure; coupled with a competitive 
market-place.  MTCBC has developed the Meanwhile programme which supports 
businesses start-ups; and evidence suggests this may is having a positive impact. 

The lowest rate of business births was noted in 2018-2019; since this time some 
improvement has been noted and the rate of business births began to ‘turn the curve’.  
We are waiting for the data for 2021-2022 to see whether this has been sustained; 
however, this data is not yet available. 

 

Comparing Merthyr Tydfil’s performance against the national average; it can be seen 
that the trend for the rate of business deaths has remained above the Welsh average 
over the period reviewed; though a reduction of 0.4% has been noted across the 5-year 
period – this is against Welsh average increase of 0.3% over the same time period.  

When we look at the year on year data; there is evidence that businesses across 
Merthyr Tydfil faced significant challenges during the period 2017-2018; with a 13.1% 
business death rate.  When contrasted with the latest available data which shows a 
business death rate of 10.5%; we can see a 2.6% improvement in the number of 
businesses surviving.   

It is reasonable to suggest that some of the support activities delivered across Merthyr 
Tydfil are having a positive impact in supporting these businesses to navigate the 
challenges they face; particularly when it came to managing the impact of the pandemic 
where MTCBC supported local businesses to secure £40+ million of Welsh Government 
funding to remain sustainable whilst enforced business closures were in place as a result 
of lockdowns. 

12.3 12.5
12.1

11.8 11.4

17.9

14.8

11.7
12.9

12.2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Rate of Business Births

Welsh average Local Data

Poly. (Welsh average) Poly. (Local Data)

9.5

10.7

9.5

10.4 9.8
10.9

13.1

10.7
11.9

10.5

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Rate of Business Deaths

Welsh Average Local data

Poly. (Welsh Average) Poly. (Local data)P
age 61

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirthsrates-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessdeathsrates-by-area-year


This section of this appendix covers local indicators.  These link directly to the services delivered by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council and reflect the outcomes of services/activities delivered by Council-led activities. 

 
                         

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Employability Team                                                    *  latest available data 
 

                

 
Source:  MTCBC’s Employability Team                                                   *  latest available data 

 
 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to outputs and outcomes 
achieved directly by MTCBC’s Employability programmes.  The Council is looking for the 
data to show an increase in positive outcomes secured.   
 

The general trend with regards to participants securing employment upon leaving the 
Council’s EU funded programmes is positive.  Year-end outcomes for this improved year 
on year; with the exception of 2020-2021 – this shows the impact of the changes to the 
service as a result of the pandemic. 
 

This continued improvement in outcomes can be attributed in part to changes in the way 
the project worked (e.g.) closer working with the Enterprise Support Team to support 
companies (re) locating within the County Borough with their recruitment enabled the 
team to provide targeted support to assist local people secure jobs. 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to the Employability 
programmes delivered by MTCBC’s Employability services.  For this indicator, the Council 
is looking for the data to show an increase in positive outcomes secured.   
 

The general trend in relation to this indicator shows positive outcomes had been 

achieved year-on-year; with the exception of 2020-2021.  Again, the impact of the 

pandemic has a part of play in the reduction in outcomes for this period.  Officers also 

experienced delays in the return of accreditation results from external bodies; which 

had an impact (outcomes are not claimed without evidence of achievement i.e. 

certificates) 

The graph above also shows that the position at Quarter 3 this year has already shown 
an improvement on last year’s outcomes; with Quarter 4 data still pending.  

 

314*

198

300

235

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Participants who are in employment after leaving a 
MTCBC Employability programme

Quarter 1 Quarter 2

Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Expon. (Quarter 4)

111*

119

166

216

104

0

50

100

150

200

250

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Participants who gain a qualification at the end of an 
‘out of work’ programme

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Expon. (Quarter 4)

LOCAL DATA 

P
age 62



 
                    

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Employability Programmes                                         *  latest available data 
 

 

 
Source:  MTCBC’s Enterprise Support/Inward Investment Team          *  latest available data 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to the Employability 

programmes delivered by MTCBC’s Employability services.  For this indicator, the Council 

is looking for the data to show an increase in positive outcomes secured.   

The general trend with regards to participants gaining a qualification upon leaving an EU 

funded ‘in work’ training programme shows a decline.  Outcomes can be seen to have 

‘see-sawed’ over the years; with several factors affecting performance (e.g.) delays in 

the awarding of the Communities 4 Work project meant that delivery did not start until 

6-months into the financial year. 

The graph above also shows that the position at Quarter 3 this year suggests there will 
be an improvement on last year’s outcomes; with Quarter 4 data still pending.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to the Enterprise 

Support/Inward Investment programmes delivered by MTCBC.  For this indicator, the 

Council is looking for the data to show sustained or increased levels of positive outcomes 

secured.   

The general trend with regards to supporting the development of buildings as part of 
business start-up is positive; with a ‘spike’ in performance recorded in 2019-2020, when 
the redevelopment of Crownford House led to 18 units which could be used as a base by 
small businesses.  In addition, the Meanwhile project supported development for a 
number of businesses across the County Borough. 
 

The data does show a decline in performance in 2020-2021; it is fair to suggest 
performance was impacted by the rapid change in the business environment 
encountered as a result of the pandemic; and exacerbated by disruption in the supply 
chain supporting developments.  Also, issues have been securing consultants and 
contractors to support developments; and these continue. 

  

70*

281
241

312

78

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Participants who gain a qualification at the end of an    
‘in work’ programme

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Linear (Quarter 4)

2*

4
4

8

5

0

2

4

6

8

10

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Number of buildings developed as part of the business 
start-up project

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Linear (Quarter 4)

P
age 63



 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Enterprise Support/Inward Investment Team          *  latest available data 
 

 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Tourism, Heritage & Culture Team                       *  latest available data 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to MTCBC’s Enterprise 

Support/Inward Investment programmes.  For this indicator, the Council is looking for 

the data to show sustained or increased levels of positive outcomes secured.  The 

general trend in is very positive, with year on year improvements being secured over the 

lifetime of this Corporate Plan.   

A number of factors have supported this positive progress.  This single point of contact 
model used has proved hugely beneficial and has enabled the Council to become a ‘go to’ 
body for investors considering setting up a business in the County Borough.  This model 
enables the team to connect prospective investors to a raft of Council services that would 
enable their move to the area to be easier (e.g.) support around planning; recruitment 
and up-skilling; Environmental Health requirements; and business rates etc.   
 

A fundamental lever for this change has been the development and strengthening of 
working relationships across the Council; the integrated approach to services meaning all 
needs identified can be met quickly and effectively. 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to the Employability 
programmes delivered by MTCBC’s enterprise Support/Inward Investment services.  For 
this indicator, the Council is looking for the data to show an increase in positive outcomes 
secured.   
 

The general trend with regards to the number of visitors to the 5 key attractions within 
the County Borough is negative.  The restrictions introduced as a result of the 
emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic has been devastating to the heritage; tourism and 
culture industry across the UK; and data collected demonstrates the significant degree 
which this has had at a local level.   
 

1 - It is important to note that the data captured for 2019-2020 included in this report   

     shows the progress at the end of Quarter 3 – the data for the last quarter was not   
     collected as this coincided with the outbreak of Covid-19. 
 

  

81%*

66% 60%
66%

74%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Percentage of inward investment enquiries which 
become active businesses

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Linear (Quarter 4)

217957*

825501

6622861

61609

-400000

-200000

0

200000

400000

600000

800000

1000000

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Number of visits to the 5 key attractions within Merthyr 
Tydfil

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Linear (Quarter 4)

P
age 64



 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Tourism, Heritage & Culture Team                          *  latest available data 
 

 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Community Safety Team                                           *  latest available data 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to outputs and outcomes 
achieved directly by MTCBC’s Tourism, Heritage and Culture team.  The Council is 
looking for the data to show an increase or sustained level of asset transfers year on year.   
 

The general trend with regards to the number of community enterprises supported in 
asset transfer opportunities over the past 4 years has shown a slight decrease from 3 
per annum to 2 per annum.   
 

It is reasonable to suggest that the requirement to comply with restrictions introduced in 
relation to the pandemic meant had an impact on the ability to complete further 
transfers during a period where local circuit-breakers and lockdowns were in place.  We 
are currently awaiting the data to identify whether performance against this measure 
has returned to pre-Covid levels. 
 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to outputs and outcomes 

achieved directly by MTCBC’s Community Safety team.  As a relatively new measure; the 

Council is looking for the data to show a decrease in the number of anti-social behaviour 

(ASB) perpetrators re-offending within 6-months of receiving a stage 2 notice.  As a new 

indicator; no specific targets have been set until a robust baseline is established.   

Issues impacting on performance for this indicator include illegal off-road biking; youth-

related ASB (where officers have seen periods where it has increased) and Town Centre 

street drinking which is a daily occurrence at the moment.  These individuals are not 

breaking any laws; but this does have a detrimental effect on perception.  

Actions being undertaken to address this involve use of the CCTV vans; often used as part 

of multi-agency action days.  A weekly CCTV briefing has been developed to respond to 

the youth-ASB priority area (which in a 7-day period led to the identification of 15 

perpetrators who are now being processed).  Additionally, Operation Trevithick has led to 

the establishment of a database to record key data – this will help us identify the gap 

identified between reporting from the public; recorded crimes; referrals and perception.  

 
 

1*

3 3

2 2

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Number of community enterprises supported in asset 
transfer opportunities

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Linear (Quarter 4)

0.0%

13.6% 13.6% 12.1%

6.3%

27.9%

16.8%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Percentage  of ASB perpetrators who re-offend within a 
6 month period, reaching Stage 2

2020-2021 2021-2022P
age 65



 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Trading Standards Team                                         *  latest available data 
 

 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Housing Support Team                                         *  latest available data 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which means that all data relates to outputs and outcomes 
achieved directly by MTCBC’s Trading Standards services.  This is a relatively new 
indicator; and no specific target is set for it until a 3-year base line has been developed 
to ensure that any target is meaningful 
 

The data collected represents the value of goods that were seized due to not complying 
with Trading Standards legislation and where the matter has gone to court and been 
concluded with a conviction; or where goods have been seized and signed over to 
Trading Standards for destruction.  This makes it challenging to project a trend for this 
indictor.  
 

However, we can see that there is a marked difference in the value of fraud detected and 
resolved from Quarter 3 2020-2021 (£21,223) to Quarter 3 2021-22 (£1,760.48).  The 
reason for this was that during the pandemic Trading Standards investigations were 
postponed where businesses were trading from domestic properties.  
 

Until investigations recommence and cases proceed to court this figure will remain static.  
 

 

This is a local indicator; which feeds into the Public Accountability Measures (PAMs).  All 
data relates to outputs and outcomes achieved directly by MTCBC’s Housing & 
Homelessness Support services.  The Council is seeking to see an increase in the level of 
those who present as homeless being relieved of homelessness. 
 

The number of people approaching the service for a homelessness assessment has 
increased consistently year on year since the new housing legislation came into force in 
April 2015. Presentations have seen a further significant increase following the changes 
made to priority need in March 2020 as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic.   
 

Changes made to homelessness legislation as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic, now 
places all individuals/households in ‘priority need’ if they are believed to be homeless, 
placing a statutory duty on the L.A. to provide temporary accommodation until 
affordable permanent accommodation can be secured. This has resulted in a significant 
increase in the amount of homelessness presentations since March 2020. 
 

Despite these additional pressures; officers have managed to maintain a consistent level 
of support to those presenting as homeless.  However, sustaining this in the longer-term 
should demand for support remain at this level; or increase as a result of changes in the 
economy will be hugely challenging. 
 
 

£0 £0

£21,223
£21,228

£1,760*

£0

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

£20,000

£25,000

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Value of fraud detected and resolved

2020-2021 2021-2022

33%*33%
31% 31% 31%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

The percentage of those who present as homeless who 
are relieved of homelessness

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Linear (Quarter 4)

P
age 66



 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Housing Support Team                                         *  latest available data 
 

 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Environmental Health Team                                     *  latest available data 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which feeds into the Public Accountability Measures (PAMs).  All 
data relates to outputs and outcomes achieved directly by MTCBC’s Housing and 
Homelessness services.  The Council is seeking to see an increase in the percentage of 
households that are threatened with homelessness being successfully prevented from 
becoming homeless to match the increase in demand. 
 

Performance data has shown an improvement in the rate where homelessness is 
prevented from 54% in 2017-2018 to 61% in 2020-2021 (a 7% increase); however, this 
improvement cannot be said to be stable as a number of variables are outside of officers 
control.   
 

To manage increased demand; services have become better aligned with other 
complementary services to maximise grant finance, more effective partnership working, 
and strengthened multi-sector partnerships to tackle the wider issues resulting in 
increased homelessness presentations.  Improved partnership working with Social 
Services both adults and children in developing collaborative and innovative projects 
(NLC and Extra Care).   Review of opportunities to establish HMOs are underway; 
however, to date it has been difficult to secure approval regarding these due to a variety 
of factors. 

 

 

This is a local indicator; which feeds into the Public Accountability Measures (or PAMs).  
All data relates to outputs and outcomes achieved directly by Environmental Health 
services.  The Council seeks to see a sustaining or improvement in the percentage of 
empty properties brought back into use. 
 

Over the past couple of years; a slow rate of improvement had been developing.  
However, as with a number of other areas; performance against this indicator was 
improving year on year; however, the pandemic meant that this work-stream was put 
on hold whilst officers dealt with the immediate risks and issues presented by Covid; the 
priority shifted to focusing on supporting the public to manage, navigate and comply 
with new, unfamiliar legislative requirements. 
 

It is reasonable to suggest that the requirement to comply with restrictions introduced in 
relation to the pandemic meant had an impact on the ability to complete further 
transfers during a period where local circuit-breakers and lockdowns were in place.  We 
are currently awaiting the data to identify whether performance against this measure 
has returned to pre-Covid levels. 
 

29%*

53%
57%

49%

61%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Percentage of households threatened with homelessness 
successfully prevented from becoming homeless 

(PAM/012)

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Quarter 4 Linear (Quarter 4)

6.6%

7.0%

7.1%

6.5%

6.2%

6.3%

6.4%

6.5%

6.6%

6.7%

6.8%

6.9%

7.0%

7.1%

7.2%

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021

Percentage of empty private sector properties brought back 
into use during the year through direct action by the local 

authority (PAM/013)

P
age 67



 

 

 

Source:  MTCBC’s Environmental Health Team                                     *  latest available data 
 

 

This is a local indicator; which feeds into the Public Accountability Measures (or PAMs).  
All data relates to outputs and outcomes achieved directly by MTCBC’s Environmental 
Health services.  The Council is seeking to see an increase in the percentage of food 
businesses that are broadly compliant with food hygiene. 
 

Prior to the pandemic; the service had achieved minor improvements year on year since 
2017-2018; with a 2% improvement being achieved over the focus period.  However, the 
pandemic meant that the regular programme of interventions was required to be 
suspended to free up officers to deal with the immediate risks and issues presented by 
Covid; the priority shifted to focusing on supporting the public to manage, navigate and 
comply with new, unfamiliar legislative requirements. 
 

The Environmental Health team has recently recommenced the programme of 

interventions, however; this must be managed alongside the competing demands of 

Covid.  Early indications show that the general standards of hygiene in premises have 

declined as businesses have not been subject to routine interventions during the 

pandemic so we anticipate a drop in performance for this indicator.  Additionally, new 

legislation introduced in October 2021 relating to labelling of pre-packed foods for sale 

(known as Natasha’s Law) could have significant implications for small and medium 

local businesses, and officers have been working hard to raise awareness and support 

businesses to understand and comply with any new requirements. 

 

92.5%

93.0% 93.2%

94.5%

91.0%

91.5%

92.0%

92.5%

93.0%

93.5%

94.0%

94.5%

95.0%

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021

The percentage of food businesses that are broadly 
compliant with food hygiene

P
age 68



WORKING LIFE – COMMUNITY UPDATES DELIVERED ON KEY ACTIVITIES AND PROGRESS MADE 

               

Appendix 3 

 

 

P
age 69



 

 

 

 

P
age 70



 

          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

P
age 71



      

 

 

 

P
age 72



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

P
age 73



 

 

 

P
age 74



      

 

 

 

 

  

  
 

P
age 75



  

      

 

 

 

P
age 76



  

 

 

 

P
age 77



 

  

 

P
age 78



            

                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

 

P
age 79



                          

 

 

P
age 80



                 

 

 
 P

age 81



 

 

 

 

 

P
age 82



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2021/2022  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Draft Forward Work Programme and 
approves, revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the 
questions at 3.7 in planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached forward work programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 16th February 2022 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 01st March 2022 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 84



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 85



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 86



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

21st  April 2021 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 21th April 2021  
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87

https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s53896/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s53896/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 88



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Transformation, Commercialisation and Corporate Centre Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/22 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

  

Date / 
Timing 

Overarching Item Cabinet Member & Officer(s)  Scrutiny Focus  Cross-Cutting Strategies and 
Plans 

15 June 
2021 

Draft Committee Work 
Programme 2021-2022 

 Committee Chair 

 Committee Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and 

to officially agree and sign off the Work Programme for 

2020-2021 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Governance) 

15 June 
2021 

Agile Working: 
Re-Opening of the One-
Stop Shop 

 Portfolio member  

 Committee Chair 

 Head of Customer 
Services 

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and 
Decision-Makers – The Committee Chair proposed this 
agenda item. There are a number of elements to agenda 
item: 

1. Committee Members are keen to fulfil the role of 
critical friend to key decision-makers at the planning 
stage of this policy; and to secure a wider overview of 
the impact the pandemic has had on the way we 
work;  

2. Members of the public have brought the re-opening 
of the  One Stop Shop to the attention of the 
Committee; discussions around the issue now need to 
begin to respond to this;  

3. Possible changes required in Committee’s role arising 
from the implementation of the Local Government & 
Elections Act 2021. (e.g.)  the need to ensure 
effective/proactive policy review using scrutiny 
function.  

The Chair wishes to discuss the potential for a Task & 
Finish group to be established in relation to this topic.  

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 

Local Government & 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 

 

P
age 89



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

20 July 
2021 

Task and Finish Group 
Report: Local Authority 
Support of Third Sector 
Services 
 
Deferred to April 2022 
meeting 

 Portfolio member  

 Committee Chair 

 Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Driving Service Improvement in Public Services – A Wales 
Audit Office report (now Audit Wales) highlighting areas 
where local authority support to third sector organisations 
could be improved was referred to the Governance 
scrutiny Committee in 2018.   

A task and finish group was established to review the 
issues outlined in this report.  Led by the Chair of 
Governance scrutiny committee; activity took place and a 
report has been produced and presented to Committee 
Members for review and discussion, enabling next steps 
to be identified and confirmed.  

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to Governance 
Improvement and 
Commercialisation themes) 

20 July 
2021 

Tackling Poverty  Portfolio member  

 Head of Corporate 
Services 

 Head of Revenues and 
Benefits 

Scrutiny and Challenge – Prior to the pandemic, this item 
was proposed for review by Committee Members, and 
was further identified through discussion with Citizens 
Advice Bureau, and linked to existing issues around debt 
management.  

The Committee requests a report on the Council’s 
response to tackling poverty and, more specifically, 
requests an update on how the Council supports people in 
relation to this issue.  

Committee Members are keen to review the Council’s 
debt collection process, specifically around the collection 
of Council Tax and Business Rates arrears and gauge its 
impact on citizens.   

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 

14 Sept 
2021 

Welsh Public Library 
Standards 

 Portfolio member  

 Head of Merthyr Tydfil 
Library Service 

Scrutiny and Challenge - Public Library Services in Wales 
are required to submit a report to Welsh Government 
regarding the performance against the Welsh Public 
Library Standards. The Welsh Public Library Standards are 
the measure by which the Minister with responsibility for 
Libraries can make a decision about their compliance with 
the statutory Libraries and Museums Act 1964.   

The Council are required to review the completed 
assessment forms prior to their submission to Welsh 
Government for assessment. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
 

P
age 90



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

14 Sept 
2021 

Development of the next 
Corporate Plan 

 Portfolio member 

 Committee Members 

 Corporate Management 
Team Members 

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and 
Decision-Makers / Driving Service Improvement in Public 
Services – The Council has entered the last year of its 
current Corporate Wellbeing Plan (Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community); and must plan the process 
for development of the next iteration.  As previously 
highlighted; Scrutiny Committee Members are key 
stakeholders in this process.   

The Chair wishes to open discussions around the 
development process to secure clarity on the roles and 
responsibilities Committee Members will have on 
contributing to this work. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community  

Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to Governance 
Improvement and Healthy 
Organisations themes) 

14 Sept 
2021 

Committee Work 
Programme 2021-22 

 Committee Chair 

 Committee Members 

Committee Members will review the 2021-2022 Work 
Programme to review and confirm.  The Committee will 
also review the Cabinet Work Plan it in line with its work 
programme, and to identify any future areas that may 
require a scrutiny. 

 

19 Oct 
2021 

Corporate Consultation 
& Engagement Process 
 
ITEM DEFERRED TO 
MEETING OF 
30/11/2021 

 Portfolio member  

 Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 

 Head of Corporate 
Communications, 
Consultation & 
Engagement 

Scrutiny and Challenge – There are many occasions where 
the Council needs to know more detail about what 
residents, partners and wider communities think about 
specific issues that affect them.   

In direct response to public feedback following recent 
Council consultation activities; the Committee are keen to 
understand the Council’s current standard consultation 
approach and to explore the reasons why recent 
consultations have received a significant amount of 
negative feedback. 

More specifically, the Committee would welcome a 
breakdown of the process undertaken in relation to the 
recent consultation on the 3-16 Voluntary Aided Catholic 
School and the Georgetown Active Travel plan to identify 
how the consultation exercise was facilitated; the 
response rate to the initial consultation; the rationale 
supporting the decision to extend the consultation 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 

P
age 91



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

exercise; the current response rate; and details of any 
lessons learned as a result of this. 

19 Oct 
2021 

Healthy Organisations  Portfolio member  

 Interim Chief Executive 

 Head of Human 
Resources  

 Organisational 
Development Manager 

Scrutiny and Challenge – The Committee has previously 
received reports from the Council’s Human Resources 
Department.  Committee Members wish to return to this 
to identify the current status on topics previously (with 
particular reference being made to the following areas:  
(1) The capability process; (2) a breakdown of SPODs; (3) 
an update on work-based stress/the Council’s response to 
this; and (4) an updated breakdown of the current 
situation in relation to agency workers). 

In addition, the Healthy Organisations theme with the 
Council’s Recovery Transformation and Improvement Plan 
identifies three main challenges for the Council to become 
a healthier organisation: 

 Moving from a traditional culture to one that fully 
embraces a modern, agile operating model; 

 Aligning limited resources to deliver change at the 
pace required; and 

 The identified need to develop the skills of the 
workforce to meet current and future challenges; and 
adopt new ways of working. 

The Committee request an update on the response 
activities developed and included within the Healthy 
Organisations theme to be assured that responses to 
these challenges have been developed and are specific, 
measurable, achievable; realistic and can be delivered 
within the timescales identified. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to Healthy 
Organisations theme) 
 

19 Oct 
2021 

Report on Re-Opening of 
the Civic Centre & One 
Stop shop 

 Cllr Andrew Barry 

 Greg Edwards  

Scrutiny and Challenge - Members of the public have 

brought the re-opening of the One Stop Shop to the 

attention of some Committee Members.   

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to Healthy 
Organisations theme) 
 

P
age 92



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Following the discussion that took place at the 

Committee’s June meeting; a report has been requested 

that provides the Committee with: 

 an update of actions taken to date (including the 

challenges faced and the rationale for the Council 

closing to the public);  

 information on the plans in place to re-open the Civic 

Centre and, more specifically, the One-Stop Shop; and  

an outline of what the One Stop Shop would look like 
moving forward (i.e.) details on proposed opening times 
and customer management processes; reflection on what 
will be put in place to ensure safe opening and proposed 
staffing arrangements, linking this to the relevant policies 
where relevant. 

19 Oct 
2021 

Committee Work 
Programme 2021-22 

 Committee Chair 

 Committee Members 

Committee Members will review the 2021-2022 Work 
Programme to review and confirm.  The Committee will 
also review the Cabinet Work Plan it in line with its work 
programme, and to identify any future areas that may 
require a scrutiny. 

 

30 Nov 
2021 

Commercialisation  Portfolio member  

 Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 

 Procurement Manager 

Scrutiny and Challenge – The Council’s Recovery 
Transformation and Improvement Plan identifies that to 
support the Council’s recovery, the organisation’s 
commerciality must be explored and developed.  
Committee Members are keen to develop further 
knowledge of this developing area further so they might 
actively support the Council’s developing plans in relation 
to it. 

A report is requested which outlines the early stage plans 
on how the Council can address our challenges in 
delivering outcomes from a commercial perspective, and 
would be keen to learn more on how the following areas 
of change are to be progressed: 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to Governance 
Improvement and 
Commercialisation themes) 

P
age 93



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 Commercial Environment – Create an organisational 
environment that enables commercial activity; and  

 Investment Programme – Create a portfolio of 
investment opportunities and review current contract 
to ensure value for money. Linking in any outcomes or 
recommendations on support to Third Sector Report 
earlier in year. 

The Committee want to consider how the Commercial 
Team would work to ensure both existing and any new 
agreements with third sector organisations would be 
structured to maximise the impact to meet corporate 
priorities. Any potential links or opportunities/outcomes 
will be noted and brought into the wider discussion on 
Third sector support scheduled in April 2022. 

30 Nov  
2021 

Corporate Consultation 
& Engagement Process 
 
RESCHEDULED FROM 
ORIGINAL DATE OF 
19/10/2021 

 Portfolio member  

 Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 

 Head of Corporate 
Communication, 
Engagement & 
Consultation 

Scrutiny and Challenge – There are many occasions where 
the Council needs to know more detail about what 
residents, partners and wider communities think about 
specific issues that affect them.   

In direct response to public feedback following recent 
Council consultation activities; the Committee are keen to 
understand the Council’s current standard consultation 
process to ensure it meets identified needs and is fit for 
purpose so they can explore the reasons why recent 
consultations have received a significant amount of 
negative feedback.   

More specifically, the Committee would welcome a 
breakdown of the process undertaken in relation to the 
recent consultation on the 3-16 Voluntary Aided Catholic 
School and the Georgetown Active Travel plan to identify 
how the consultation exercise was facilitated; the 
response rate to the initial consultation; the rationale 
supporting the decision to extend the consultation 
exercise; the current response rate; and details of any 
lessons learned as a result of this. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 

P
age 94



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

30 Nov 
2021 

Committee Work 
Programme 2021-22 

 Committee Chair 

 Committee Members 

Committee Members will review the 2021-2022 Work 
Programme to review and confirm.  The Committee will 
also review the Cabinet Work Plan it in line with its work 
programme, and to identify any future areas that may 
require a scrutiny. 

 

01 Feb 
2022 

Living Well Thematic 
Report – Five Year 
Review 

 Portfolio member 

 Chief Officer – Social 
Services 

Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Living Well theme 
across the lifetime of the current Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan.  The report will outline progress made against the 
corporate objectives; and will identify challenges 
faced/managed; along with opportunities identified and 
actioned.   

The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and 
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more 
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be 
instead presented for the Governance and Audit 
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed 
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and 
avoid duplication. 

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how 
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the 
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to Living Well and Best 
Start themes) 

ACRF 

 

01 Feb 
2022 

Corporate Consultation 
& Engagement Process 
 
ITEM RESCHEDULED 
FROM 19/10/2021; TO 
30/11/2021; TO 
01/02/2022 

 Portfolio member  

 Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 

 Head of Corporate 
Communication, 
Engagement & 
Consultation 

Scrutiny and Challenge – There are many occasions where 
the Council needs to know more detail about what 
residents, partners and wider communities think about 
specific issues that affect them.   

In direct response to public feedback following recent 
Council consultation activities; the Committee are keen to 
understand the Council’s current standard consultation 
process to ensure it meets identified needs and is fit for 
purpose so they can explore the reasons why recent 
consultations have received a significant amount of 
negative feedback.   

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 

P
age 95



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

More specifically, the Committee would welcome a 
breakdown of the process undertaken in relation to the 
recent consultation on the 3-16 Voluntary Aided Catholic 
School and the Georgetown Active Travel plan to identify 
how the consultation exercise was facilitated; the 
response rate to the initial consultation; the rationale 
supporting the decision to extend the consultation 
exercise; the current response rate; and details of any 
lessons learned as a result of this. 

01 Feb 
2022 

Committee Work 
Programme 2021-22 

 Committee Chair 

 Committee Members 

Committee Members will review the 2021-2022 Work 
Programme to review and confirm.  The Committee will 
also review the Cabinet Work Plan it in line with its work 
programme, and to identify any future areas that may 
require a scrutiny. 

 

01 Mar 
2022 

Corporate Consultation 
& Engagement Process 
 
ITEM RESCHEDULED 
FROM 19/10/2021; TO 
30/11/2021; TO 
01/02/2022 (Scrutiny 
Cancelled) TO 
01/03/2022 

 Portfolio member  

 Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 

 Head of Corporate 
Communication, 
Engagement & 
Consultation 

Scrutiny and Challenge – There are many occasions where 
the Council needs to know more detail about what 
residents, partners and wider communities think about 
specific issues that affect them.   

In direct response to public feedback following recent 
Council consultation activities; the Committee are keen to 
understand the Council’s current standard consultation 
process to ensure it meets identified needs and is fit for 
purpose so they can explore the reasons why recent 
consultations have received a significant amount of 
negative feedback.   

More specifically, the Committee would welcome a 
breakdown of the process undertaken in relation to the 
recent consultation on the 3-16 Voluntary Aided Catholic 
School and the Georgetown Active Travel plan to identify 
how the consultation exercise was facilitated; the 
response rate to the initial consultation; the rationale 
supporting the decision to extend the consultation 
exercise; the current response rate; and details of any 
lessons learned as a result of this. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 

P
age 96



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

1 Mar  
2022 

Working Life Thematic 
Report – Five Year 
Review 

 Portfolio Member 

 Chief Officer – 
Community 
Regeneration 

Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Working Life theme 
across the lifetime of the current Corporate Plan.  

The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and 
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more 
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be 
instead presented for the Governance and Audit 
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed 
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and 
avoid duplication. 

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how 
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the 
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to the Working 
Life/Economic Recovery 
themes) 
 
Economic Growth Strategy 

1 Mar  2022 

Best Start Thematic 
Report – Five Year 
Review 

 Portfolio Member 

 Chief Officer – 
Community 
Regeneration 

Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Best Start theme 
across the lifetime of the current Corporate Plan.  

The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and 
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more 
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be 
instead presented for the Governance and Audit 
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed 
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and 
avoid duplication. 

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how 
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the 
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to the Best Start, 
Working Life and Living Well 
Themes) 
 
Raising Aspirations, Raising 
Standards (RARS) Strategy 
 

1 Mar 
2022 

Update on Development 
of the next Corporate 
Plan 
 
ITEM DEFERRED  - 
SUGGESTED TOPIC FOR  
NEXT MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 Portfolio member 

 Committee Members 

 Corporate Management 
Team Members 

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and 
Decision-Makers / Driving Service Improvement in Public 
Services – The development of the next iteration of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan is under development.   

Committee Members wish to review the developing draft 
document to ensure all elements identified and agreed 
during the development process have been completed; 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
 

P
age 97



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

that the lessons learned through the delivery of Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community have been 
reflected; and that all regulatory requirements have been 
met. 

1 Mar 2022 

Committee Work 
Programme 2021-22 

 Committee Chair 

 Committee Members 

Committee Members will review the 2021-2022 Work 
Programme to review and confirm.  The Committee will 
also review the Cabinet Work Plan it in line with its work 
programme, and to identify any future areas that may 
require a scrutiny. 

 

5 Apr 2022 

Tackling Poverty – 
Update from Citizens 
Advice Bureau 
 
ITEM DEFERRED  - 
SUGGESTED TOPIC FOR  
NEXT MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 To be confirmed Service Improvement in Public Services – As part of a 
report received in July 2021 around Council Tax collection 
and its impact on the Council’s Tackling Poverty priority; 
the Committee agreed to explore how third sector 
agencies offer proactive support to residents around debt 
and poverty.   

A representative from Citizen’s Advice Bureau (CAB) has 
been invited to meet with the Committee to review their 
work to support residents across the County Borough, and 
review the impact of Council-Tax-related debt within this 
support package. 

 

5 Apr 2022 

Task & Finish Group 
Report:  Council Support 
of the Third Sector 

 Portfolio member  

 Committee Chair 

 Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Driving Service Improvement in Public Services – A Wales 
Audit Office report (now Audit Wales) highlighting areas 
where local authority support to third sector organisations 
could be improved was referred to the Governance 
scrutiny Committee in 2018.   

A task and finish group was established to review the 
issues outlined in this report.  Led by the Chair of 
Governance scrutiny committee; activity took place and a 
report has been produced and presented to Committee 
Members for review and discussion, enabling next steps 
to be identified and confirmed.  

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 
 
Recovery Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to Governance 
Improvement and 
Commercialisation themes) 

5 Apr 2022 

Living Well Thematic 
Report – Five Year 
Review 
 

 Portfolio member 

 Chief Officer – Social 
Services 

Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Living Well theme 
across the lifetime of the current Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan.  The report will outline progress made against the 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 

P
age 98



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
ITEM RESCHEDULED 
FROM 01/02/2022 
(Scrutiny Cancelled) TO 
05/04/2022 

corporate objectives; and will identify challenges 
faced/managed; along with opportunities identified and 
actioned.   

The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and 
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more 
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be 
instead presented for the Governance and Audit 
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed 
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and 
avoid duplication. 

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how 
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the 
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan. 

(Links to Living Well and Best 
Start themes) 

ACRF 

 

5 Apr 2022 

Environmental Wellbeing 
Thematic Report – Five 
Year Review 
 
ITEM RESCHEDULED 
FROM 11/01/2022; TO 
05/04/2022 

 Portfolio member 

 Chief Officer – Social 
Services 

Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report 
outlining progress made against the Environmental 
Wellbeing theme across the lifetime of the current 
Corporate Plan.  
 
The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and 
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more 
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be 
instead presented for the Governance and Audit 
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed 
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and 
avoid duplication. 

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how 
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the 
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan. 

Focus on the Future: 
wellbeing in our community 

Recovery, Transformation 
and Improvement Plan 
(Links to the Environmental 
Wellbeing theme) 

Wales Towards Zero Waste 
 

5 Apr 2022 

Committee Work 
Programme 2021-22 

 Committee Chair 

 Committee Members 

Committee Members will review the 2021-2022 Work 
Programme to review and confirm.  The Committee will 
also review the Cabinet Work Plan it in line with its work 
programme, and to identify any future areas that may 
require a scrutiny. 

 

P
age 99



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Additional topics for consideration 

Source of  Suggestion Description Scheduled 

Member of the Public  This suggestion came from a member of the public who is keen to understand what the 
Council does in its day-to-day business around equalities and how the system 
objectives are met (with realistic examples).   
 

 

Commercialisation At the meeting of 30/11/2021; Committee Members received a report on the 
developing Commercialisation Team within MTCBC.  At the meeting; Members 
requested an update report be brought back to Committee during the 2022-2023 
municipal year to enable members to maintain a watching brief over activities; 
processes and procedures etc. 

To be added to the Work Programme for the 
2022/2023 municipal year 

Head of Policy and 
Improvement 

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and Decision-Makers / Driving 
Service Improvement in Public Services – The development of the next iteration of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan is under development.   

Committee Members wish to review the developing draft document to ensure all 
elements identified and agreed during the development process have been completed; 
that the lessons learned through the delivery of Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our 
community have been reflected; and that all regulatory requirements have been met. 

Suggested - To be added to the Work 
Programme for the 2022/2023 municipal 
year 

Scrutiny Members   Service Improvement in Public Services – As part of a report received in July 2021 
around Council Tax collection and its impact on the Council’s Tackling Poverty priority; 
the Committee agreed to explore how third sector agencies offer proactive support to 
residents around debt and poverty.   

A representative from Citizen’s Advice Bureau (CAB) is to be invited to meet with the 
Committee to review their work to support residents across the County Borough, and 
review the impact of Council-Tax-related debt within this support package. 

Suggested - To be added to the Work 
Programme for the 2022/2023 municipal 
year 

P
age 100



As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s Consultation and Engagement Process
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	4 Best Start to Life Thematic Report – Delivery of Key Objectives in the Corporate Plan: Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community
	Appendix 1

	5 Working Life Thematic Report – Review of Delivery of  Key Objectives in the Corporate Well-being Plan
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	6 Forward Work Programme 2021/22
	Appendix 1


